TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY School of Business and Governance Department of Law

Tuğçe İpek ACAR TİRYAKİ THE EFFECT OF CRISES ON SUPPORT OF POPULIST RADICAL RIGHT: A CASE STUDY OF LEGA NORD IN ITALY

Master's thesis

International Relations and European-Asian Studies

Supervisor: Holger Mölder, PhD

Tallinn 2022

I hereby declare that I have compiled the paper independently and all works, important standpoints and data by other authors has been properly referenced and the same paper has not been previously presented for grading. The document length is 16.698 words from the introduction to the end of conclusion.

Tuğçe İpek Acar Tiryaki

(signature, date)

Student code: 184537 TASM

Student e-mail address: tugceipekacar@gmail.com

Supervisor: Holger Mölder The paper conforms to requirements in force

.....

(signature, date)

Chairman of the Defence Committee: Permitted to the defence

.....

(name, signature, date)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	4
INTRODUCTION	5
1. POPULISM	8
1.1. Literature Review on Populism and Populist Radical Right	8
1.2. Ideological Division of Populism	9
1.3. Three Effective Populist Party in Italy	11
1.4. The Changes Salvini Introduced on Populist Lega	13
2. THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	16
2.1. Losers of Modernization Theory	16
2.2. Rational Choice Theory	18
3. LEGA PARTY	20
3.1. Historical Development of the Lega Party	20
3.2. Ideological Foundations	24
3.3. Its Place in Italian Politics	26
3.4. Recent Developments	27
3.5. Lega Leader Matteo Salvini	28
3.6. Xenophobia in Salvini's Statements	33
3.7. Content Analysis of Salvini's Disclosures	34
3.8. Critique of Salvini's Views	35
4. CRISIS INFLUENCE ON LEGA	36
4.1. The 2009 European Debt crisis	36
4.1.1. Crisis Effect on Italian Economy	36
4.1.2. European Debt Crisis Effect on Lega's Votes	37
4.1.3. Conclusion: Economic Crisis Influence on 2013 Elections	38
4.2. 2015 Immigration Crisis	39
4.2.1. Italy's Situation	40
4.2.2. National Election Results	40
4.2.3. Matteo Salvini's Actions About Refugees	41
4.2.4. Conclusion: Refugee Crisis Influence on 2018 Elections	42
4.3. Covid-19 Crisis	43
4.4. Analysis of Impact of Three Crises to Lega	45
CONCLUSION	46
LIST OF REFERENCES	49
APPENDIX	59

ABSTRACT

The populist radical-right party, the Lega Nord in Italy started to transform itself from a regionalist party to a more nationalist party under its new leader Matteo Salvini. Since the Second Italian Republic, populism has become a permanent feature of Italian politics. In the thesis populism and whether "Losers of Modernization" and "Rational Choice" theories can explain the rise of rightwing populist parties and the change of discourse before and after Salvini's leadership on populist Lega is examined. The thesis concludes that the mentioned theories can partly explain the rise of right-wing populist parties.

The aim of the thesis is to understand how the 2009 European debt crisis, 2015 migration crisis, and covid-19 crises influenced the support to populist radical-right parties by the case of Lega. In this study, the case study method is used. The main finding is that Lega benefits from the crises if it places the crisis at the center of its political agenda, continues its populist discourses by creating a common enemy, and emphasizes "us" and the "others" during crisis time. Moreover, Lega's leader and the other parties' stances against these crises are crucial.

Keywords: populism, radical-right parties, Lega Nord, crises, European debt crisis, migration crisis, covid-19

INTRODUCTION

The Northern League for the Independence of Padania (Italian: Lega Nord per l'Indipendenza della Padania), shortly the Lega Nord was established as a federalist and regionalist political party in Italy in 1991. In 2013, Matteo Salvini took over the party which was under financial corruption allegations. Salvini changed the party's goals and stances. Although the party's name officially stays The Northern League for the Independence of Padania, its current leader Matteo Salvini dropped the term "Nord" from the party's brand name. He embraced a more nationalist view. Salvini softened its anti-southern view, as he saw the south as an unused opportunity for development.

Before Salvini, the party was supported by an only small minority of pro-autonomist northerns. As Europe started to get more migrants from the Middle East and Africa, Salvini saw the opportunity, expanded the party's message to include an incisive nationalism (and, in the process, dropped the North from the party's name) (Walt 2018). He seized on Italians' anger over debt-laden economy, slow growth and a more than one-third youth unemployment rate and minted a new slogan with Trumpian echoes: "Italians first." (Walt 2018). He wanted to change EU by teaming up other EU populist nationalist right-wing parties and restoring the European soul that has been "sold out" by the governors of the Union.

In the 2018 Italy national elections, Lega increased its votes by more than 13% according to previous 2013 elections and became the third largest party in Italy with a popular vote of more than 17%. Matteo Salvini became Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of the Interior from 1 June 2018 to 5 September 2019.

My research objective is to study how the economic, migration and covid-19 crises influenced the support to populist radical-right parties and my purpose is to study it by the case of Lega. It is aimed to contribute to the literature to better recognize and interpret the populist movements which can be seen in Italy if Lega becomes stronger.

The rise of populist right-wing parties makes these parties no more smaller parties by attracting protest votes. For this paper, Lega was selected because not only its votes increased enormously in the 2018 national elections and entered the coalition, but also it is becoming a mainstream party, and it makes the current mainstream parties' political stance harsher. Previous studies show mixed

results about the reasons of rise of populist right-wing parties; however, I would like to examine Lega's political stance after the 2009 European debt crisis, 2015 migration crisis, and covid-19 crisis and how these political stances affected Lega's popularity.

The main idea this paper is built on is that the 2009 European debt crisis, the 2015 migrant crisis, and the covid-19 crisis are the main factors contributing to the rise in popularity of Lega. The paper aims to show that Lega's popularity is affected by mainly its populist rhetoric, populist campaigns, and party program during these crises time. It is the expectation of this study to explore more about these crises' impacts and whether "Losers of Modernization" and "Rational Choice" theories can explain the rise of right-wing populist parties.

My Research Question is "How did the European debt crisis, 2015 migration crisis, and Covid-19 crisis influence the votes of Lega in 2013 and 2018 Italian national elections?"

The subject will be examined by a qualitative content analysis and discourses analysis by making a literature review of research on populism and theories which may explain the rise of Lega and by analyzing national elections and Eurostat data. The crises' effect on the votes of Lega will be examined.

In this study, case study method will be used for analyzing crisis' effect on populist radical-right parties. A case study is portrayed as a kind of phenomenon that occurs in a bounded context (Miles &Huberman 1994 ac cited in Njie& Asimiran 2014, 36). The aim of using the case study is to get in-depth details as much as possible about an event, person or process (Njie& Asimiran 2014). I selected case study method, since case study method provides comprehensive, rich in-depth explanation of how a regionalist party under Umberto Bossi as transferred to radical-right under Salvini, and how populist stance affects the party's support and similar processes took place throughout Europe.

There were some limitations in this research. I collected data from the speeches of Salvini and Bossi and other party officials, interviews of Salvini, Eurostat and Italian state websites. I mostly used resources which are accessible in English. The second limitation was, the numbers of researches about Lega related to covid-19 cases are quite limited.

The paper consists of four parts. In the first part, I will have a literature review on populism.

In the second part, I will discuss the "Losers of Modernization" and "Rational Choice" theories. The advantages and disadvantages of these theories and how these theories explain the rise of right-wing populism will be discussed. In the third part, I will examine the transformation of Lega party to a radical-right party and the role of its current leader Matteo Salvini in detail.

In the fourth part, I will examine Lega's stance about the 2009 European debt crisis, 2015 migration crisis, and covid-19 crisis and how these stances affected Lega's votes.

1. POPULISM

I will present a literature review on "populism" and "populist radical right" to provide a background for the analysis of the Lega. Lega is mostly accepted as "populist radical-right" in the literature. It is generally accepted that Lega Nord was transformed from an autonomist regionalist party to a populist radical-right party under the leadership of Salvini (Oner 2020, 2).

1.1. Literature Review on Populism and Populist Radical Right

Laclau (2005, 87) defines populism as the border construction that divides society into two camps in parallel and the discourse between the "power holders" and the oppressed. Laclau (2005) also defines populism as the unmediated social expression of popular sovereignty as an "empty signifier" that can unite multiple, sometimes contradictory, elements attached to a particular social identity into a single entity called the people.

There are three different concepts of populism: populism as an ideology, populism as a discursive style, and populism as a political strategy.

Mudde (2004, 543) describes populism as "an ideology that considers society to be ultimately separated into two homogeneous and antagonistic groups – the 'pure people' versus the corrupt elite – and which argues that politics should be an expression of the volonté générale (general will) of the people." Mudde & Kaltwasser,(2013) defines populism a thin-centered ideology. Albertazzi& McDonnell (2008, 3 as cited in Caliskan 2018) claim populism is an ideology which pits a virtuous and homogeneous people against a set of elites and dangerous "others" who together deprives the sovereign people of their rights, values, prosperity, identity, and voice. A populist party claims to represent "the people," and it is exclusive; the "other" can variously be "the elite," "foreigners" "Eurocrats," "the establishment," and "immigrants" (Balfour 2017, 56). Directly representing "the people" enables them to bypass institutions, demonize opponents, and polarize the debate between "us" and "them," "the people versus the enemy." (Balfour 2017, 56)

Lega embraced nationalism after Salvini became a leader. It was a separatist party, defending the elite North is superior to the south of Italy, claiming the hard-working people of the North Italians do not have to take the burden of the lazy South Italians. It can be said that Lega differentiated

"the pure people" (Northern Italians) and the "corrupt elite" (political elite) but now it differentiates people "us" and the "others" by systematically accepting Italians as "us" and immigrants as "others".

For populism as a discursive style, Hawkins (2010) defines populism as "a worldview and is expressed as a discourse". Kazin (1995 as cited in Gidron & Bonikowski, 2013, 8) characterizes populism as a language used by those who claim to speak for the majority of the people. Especially after Salvini embraced nationalism he used populist discursive style more, supposedly speaking for the majority of Italian people. For Laclau (2005 as cited in Caliskan 2018), the symbolic distinction between 'us' and 'them' constitutes populist discourse. In the third chapter, I will examine how populism as a discursive style affected Lega's votes.

For populism as a political strategy, Taggart (1995) asserts that populist parties are centralized organizational structures headed by a strong charismatic leader. Pappas asserts that "leadership offers a key analytical variable in both understanding populism and assessing its successes, or failures (Pappas 2012, 2 as cited in Caliskan 2018). Lega's current leader Salvini was nicknamed "The Captain" by his supporters. During his leadership, Lega embraced a nationalistic view rather than a regionalist separatist view and appealed to wider voters. In the third chapter, I will examine how Salvini as a leader uses populism as a political strategy.

1.2. Ideological Division of Populism

Populism is not a new phenomenon; in Europe, it has been an object of studies since the 1980s. Margaret Canovan is one of the most important classics of the sociological concept of populism. Canovan (1981, pp. 9, 139, 297) presented the dichotomy as an invariable component of populism in her article about the links between the populist mobilization of the masses and their disillusionment with the social functions of the political elites. Ernesto Laclau (1977) studied Politics and Ideology in Marxist Theory. Laclau (1980) also studied on populist rupture and discourses. Dix (1985), Mouzelis (1985, 1989), Spourdalakis (1989), Lyrintzis (1987) studied on populism in 1980s.

Lega is accepted as a populist party, but it has some different characteristics from other populist parties.

Populism can be left-wing or right-wing.

March (2007, 66) argues left-wing populists emphasize egalitarianism, and identify economic inequity as the basis of existing political and social arrangements and the "moral people versus corrupt elite" dichotomy is central to the ideology of left-wing populists (Caliskan 2018). Syriza in Greece, Podemos in Spain are left-wing populist parties in Europe. According to Mouffe (2019), while left populism deepens democracy, it creates a hegemony to be built against the oligarchy in the collective consciousness (including the unsecured such as immigrants, refugees and workers).

Mouffe (2019, 90-91) underlines that there is never a populist regime establishment among the aims of left populism, the development and deepening of democracy in order to create the collective subject is the main goal, and Bernie Sanders is a good example for the USA While leftwing populism refers to socio-economic issues, right-wing populism generally refers to ethnicitynation (Caiani 2019, 238 as cited in Yigit Uyar 2021). According to Akkerman, while right and left populism complain about the corruption of political elites; left populism rather articulates the situation created by large institutions within the dominant economy; Right populism, on the other hand, expresses ethnic and new minorities immigrants, which is seen as cultural threat by them (Akkerman 2003, 147- 159 as cited in Yigit Uyar 2021). While left populism defines society with classes, it opposes the economic elite as "elite"; while right-wing populism defines society as a whole, it targets the cultural and political elite as the "elite". Werner (2017 as cited in Yigit Uyar 2021).

For right-wing populists, "the people" are under attack by "others" such as immigrants and welfare abusers who do not share the values of the people (Albertazzi & McDonnell 2015, 5). The main difference between the two groups is inherent. Anti-immigrant stance is their key feature (Caliskan 2018). The AfD in Germany, the FN in France, the PVV in the Netherlands, the FPÖ in Austria are some right-wing populist parties in Europe.

Wodak (2015, 1) mentions that right-wing populism produces a policy of fear, thus persuading the public to more security. Populist radical-right parties combine populism, nativism, and authoritarianism when nativism and authoritarianism combined with populism are the characters of radical right specifically (Caliskan 2018). Norris & Inglehart (2016) establishes the relationship between populism and authoritarianism, especially in their recent studies.

For contemporary populist radical-right parties, nationalism is the primary political factor that determines their policy preferences and their "opposition to immigration is consistent with the idea that diversity threatens the nation-state" (Eger & Valdez 2019, 383 as cited in Oner 2020, 2). And they argue that populist radical-right parties' neo-nationalism occurs when national boundaries are perceived to be under threat such as from immigrants (Oner 2020).

1.3. Three Effective Populist Party in Italy

Italy's overall vote for populists rose from 30% in the 1994 general election to almost 70% in 2018. The demand for populism in Italy stems from a traditional distrust of the politics of Italian society (Vercesi 2021). Since Second Italian Republic (proclaimed in 1994) three big populist parties emerged, Forza Italia, Lega Nord and 5 Star Movement (Movimento 5 Stelle, M5S) in Italy and become permanent feature of Italian politics. All three parties' discourses and ideologies are different.

Lega Nord and Forza Italia were established in 1990s after the collapse of First Italian Republic. The Lega Nord was established by Umberto Bossi in 1991. M5S is relatively new, established in 2009.

Lega Nord was regionalist and a right-wing populist party. While Forza Italia was not regionalist and was mainly liberal conservatist. All populist parties need charismatic leaders such as Berlusconi, Grillo and Salvini. Forza Italia leader Silvio Berlusconi had an image of businessman and came to power many times. M5S had also a charismatic leader, Beppe Grillo who claims it is political movement to demolish traditional political parties (Kvirkvelia 2014, 61).

Forza Italy (later the People of Freedom) described "people" as productive people, M5S described "people" as honest people, while Lega described "people" as ethnic (first) /national (in Salvini's leadership) community. Forza Italy/ People of Freedom described "elite" as public establishment, M5S described "elite" as political establishment and Lega described "elite" as political center-Rome/ Brussels (Vercesi 2021).

Forza Italy accepts the freedom of individuals and freedom is not graciously conceded by the State, because it comes before it. The party believes that the State should be at the service of citizens, and not citizens at the service of the State. The citizen is sovereign. For this, it believes concretely in the individual (The Belief of Forza Italia 2004). As a businessman, Berlusconi described

"people" as productive people, promised new jobs and fight against unemployment problem. Forza Italy placed more emphasis on campaigns against state bureaucracy and the intellectual elite (Vampa 2018).

M5S is against all previous political powers. It criticized previous inefficient governments and the political and economic elite in general. Grillo claims to be a representative of simple people. Grillo said he was not one of the political leaders who is taking the reimbursement of electoral expenses, which in some cases is a source of income for political organizations (Kvirkvelia, 2014). He wanted to put honest people into power (like "the people" in Italy) because the corrupt do not think they're corrupt and use public funds for their business think it's their money (Politi 2015).

Till Salvini's leadership "the people" were Northern Italians but Salvini embraced "the people" as all Italians. The "elite" was Rome, the political elite who were responsible of socio-economic or political problems facing the North. Now, Salvini claims to represent the whole Italian people against the corrupted elite in Brussels-EU.

Active use of media was used by both Forza Italia and M5S. Lega Nord started to use active media by its recent leader Salvini. Lega Nord, at that time, focused on promoting party ideology rather than leader and was not using media on the same scale as Forza Italia and M5S (Kvirkvelia 2014, 61).

Associating Europe with security and Eurosceptic discourses is mostly made by FI and LN. Although M5S sometimes participated in cultural protectionist discourses, M5S did not undertake the rhetoric of extremism as much as other parties. Although M5S occasionally made anti-refugee rhetoric, their ambiguous stance continued on this issue as well; In general, it opposes the Dublin Convention and EU immigration policies. The success of M5S in the 2013 and 2018 elections is closely related to the implementation of the popular-centrism principle, which is the basis of populism, in a programmed way. The determination of party program/election manifestos on the platform where the public can express their own opinions has shown parallelism with the peoplecentered rhetoric. Although M5S is the most populist party in Italy, the parties that assumed the most marginalizing and exclusionary rhetoric were FI and LN (Yigit Uyar 2021, 201). The LN received the most votes in its history in the 2018 elections by bringing up its agenda the groups they marginalized the most. (Yigit Uyar 2021, 201).

While FI/PDL focuses mostly on the "elite", LN puts a similar emphasis on both "elite" and "others". Moreover, the LN pays much less attention to the "left" in its discourse on the "elite" than to the FI/PDL. (Bobba & McDonnell 2016, 282). FI established an identity as a "liberal

populist party" while LN was defined as "ethnoregionalist populist" (Spektorowski 2003 as cited in Bobba & McDonnell 2016). For liberal populist parties, neoliberalism rather than nativism is central to their ideology (Mudde 2007). Neo-liberal conservative platform of FI resembled 'the mainstream European centre right' (Pierre-André Taguieff 2003, 104 as cited in Bobba & McDonnell 2016, 283). LN, with its nativist and authoritarian positions, is more radical type of right-wing populist party than FI/PDL (Bobba & McDonnell 2016, 284).

From May 2006 to May 2008 (Prodi center-left government), FD/PDL and LN were opposition parties. From May 2008 to November 2011 (Berlusconi government), PDL and LN were in the government. From November 2011 to December 2012 (Monti government till April 2013), PDL was majority providing parliamentary support for the Monti technocratic government, while LN was in opposition (Bobba & McDonnell 2016, 284). Lega Nord and Forza Italia participated 2013 elections through collaboration. M5S got big support in 2013 elections, became the second party and in 2018 elections became the most voted party.

1.4. The Changes Salvini Introduced on Populist Lega

Lega was founded by Umberto Bossi as a protest party against the corruption and fiscal overreach of the government in Rome (Stille 2018). Bossi identified Northern people are different from other Italians, and this became the basis for establishment of strong regionalist political party (Spektorowski 2003, 62). "Us" rhetoric was Northern Italians. "Others" were Southern Italians, and the political elite who are responsible of socio-economic or political problems facing the North (Kvirkvelia 2014). Bossi's insulting discourse about southern Italian peasants and his failed efforts to set up a separatist Padanian parliament "fatigued" voters (Stille 2018).

When Salvini took over the party, he moved the Lega from regional separatism to a nationalist party. He changed the party's slogan to "Italians first". He shifted the 'us' to all Italians. "Others" were mainly immigrants. The enemy was no longer Rome, but Brussels, international banks and multinational corporations. His new target was immigration, Roma encampments and the indifference of the European Union to Italy's problems (Stille 2018). Attacks on migrants (and Islam, gay marriage and criminals) have taken the place of separatism (Stille 2018).

Salvini also changed the communication strategy of the party. He intensely used social media. He is a very active user of Facebook. Despite his strict and provocative rhetoric on immigration,

Salvini presented himself as a softer and more approachable figure to most Italians in the contrast with Bossi, the Lega's founder, "who carried himself like a barroom brawler, threatening to punch protesters at public rallies and making free use of obscenities and insults" (Stille 2018). However, Salvini came across as the good guy living down the block, giving blood and organizing blood-donation events, and making frequent references to "mamma" and "papa", to goodness and generosity (Stille 2018).

Bossi was more bad-mouthed and his some attitudes and discourses were insulting. In 2001, Bossi said he only used the Italian flag to "wipe..." (Stille 2018). In July 2008, Bossi made an offensive hand gesture to the Italian national anthem in a publicity campaign (Italymagazine 2008). However, Salvini presented himself as a softer and approachable person in the contrast with Bossi, "who carried himself like a barroom brawler, threatening to punch protesters at public rallies and making free use of obscenities and insults" (Stille 2018). On the other hand, Salvini came across as the good guy living down the block, giving blood and organizing blood-donation events, and making frequent references to "mamma" and "papa", to goodness and generosity (Stille 2018).

Bossi used a language of the Northern working classes – a language one would expect to see used in pubs, based on exaggeration and deliberate opposition to ideas thought to reflect the Left's rules of "political correctness" (Ruzza 2008 as cited in Ruzza C. & Balbo L. 2013). Salvini's language is not politically correct either, on the other hand he uses a softer language.

Umberto Bossi can easily represent himself as the heirs to a heroic civic tradition (Huysseune 2002). Bossi sometimes used a kind of regional dialect (here mainly addressed to his Lombard friends) and some myths. For instance, in his 2009 speech, Bossi mentions the Nostradamus prediction of the city of Adria, being the last city standing at the end of the world. In his 2010 speech, he informed the audience about the myth that Pontida's statue of Saint Giacomo can predict the weather (Manara 2019). Since Salvini adopted more nationalistic approach, he addressed to all Italians.

Bossi put Southerns and ruling Rome as the "other". The party's slogan was "Roma Ladrona" (Rome's a big thief). He was also against the immigration and EU. He described the Nice Treaty as a "text written by communists and freemasons (Harding 2002). Lega's nativist program promising a "revolution of common sense" (la rivoluzione del buonsenso) puts Lega in line with the main representatives of radical right populism in Western Europe. While Bossi's Lega Nord had nothing to do with Jean-Marie Le Pen's National Front, Salvini tried to collaborate with Marine

Le Pen the leader of National Front which has the affinity regarding immigration, sovereignty and Islam (Betz 2018).

Bossi received a one-year suspended prison sentence for incitement of violence in 1998. At a Lega Nord meeting he said "We must hunt down these rascals [neo-fascists], and if they take votes from us, then let's comb the area house by house, because we kicked the fascists out of here once before after the war." (Peoplepill 2022). In 2003, when he was the Reform Minister, he ordered the Navy to fire real bullets to boats having illegal immigrants, with a saying "After the second or third warning, bang... we fire the cannon" (Peoplepill 2022). He used more violent words than Salvini.

One of Bossi's quotes was "It's not that we're racist, we're just against indiscriminate immigration I mean immigration which can't integrate. Integration is more difficult for insistence, in a white society for someone who is black. Immigration always poses problems I mean it was enough to bring here to the north all those Sicilians and Calabrians, to create problems we all know about" (Montalbano 1991). Bossi also mentioned "Lombardy and the Veneto are closer to Middle Europe than to Rome. The south looks like North Africa," (Montalbano 1991). He was not only opposed to foreigners' immigration in a very strongly discriminative way but also opposed to southern Italians to immigrate to the north. On the other hand, his main target was southern Italians not immigrants. Salvini has also stable harsh attitude towards non-Italians' migration and his first target is migrants.

2. THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

In this section, I will review theoretical aspects about how Lega can prevail in elections. Two theoretical frameworks "Losers of Modernization" and "Rational Choice" theories will be discussed. These theories contribute to my paper since I aimed to analyze how feeling as disadvantaged "other" or the fear to become disadvantaged "other" in the society, contributes to the populist Lega party.

I chose Losers of Modernization Theory to see if it can explain the impact of the crisis on Lega votes since economic deprivation and social injustice can create "losers of globalization" and these voters may vote for the populist right-wing parties. I chose Rational Choice Theory since the theory is based on optimization, voters calculate their cost and benefits among the alternative parties, and if Lega creates an opportunity for individuals to express their views that have been ignored by leaders in mainstream political parties. Both theories partly explained the rise of Lega votes. The combination of these theories gives better results. Losers of Modernization Theory explains the populist radical-right parties to rise when voters feel economic deprivation or injustice. Rational Choice Theory makes the populist radical-right parties to rise if mainstream parties ignore the voters' anger after social crisis and voters think populist radical right-parties can express voters' views.

2.1. Losers of Modernization Theory

In the early twentieth century, Europe had a fast industrialization, development, and modernization. By a rapid increase in globalization and modernization in the 1980s unemployment increased fast among unskilled workers. In Italy, in 1987, more than 75 percent of the unemployed were estimated to have at the most completed eight years of education, 45 percent not even those grades (Frey 1988, 38 as cited in Betz 1994, 31).

Betz's (1994) main explanation for the rise of ring-wing populist parties is "losers of modernization" theory which is based on economic deprivation. Betz (1994) explained Losers of Modernization as when society changes through globalization, unskilled workers face unemployment or lower income and are unable to cope with the acceleration of economic, social,

and cultural modernization and become victims. Hage & Powers (1992 as cited in Betz 1994, 32) explains that "the technological elimination of unskilled and semiskilled jobs means that a great many people will be caught in a world of despair, lacking marketable skills or hope for the future".

After the 2008 financial crisis and 2009 European debt crisis, some European economies and employment levels became vulnerable. Poli (2016 as cited in Godal 2020, 14) claims the crisis exposed the failures of the European project, unable to deal with those with serious economic problems. Before the crisis, Italy was already struggling with economic problems, and it is also one of the most affected countries in Europe from that global economic crisis.

Losers of modernization is not only the unskilled workers in crisis time. Feelings of social injustice cause frustration when people feel deprived of some status or identity relative to their position in the past (Walker& Pettigrew 1984 as cited in Quinones&Tcherneva 2020). Moreover, in prosperous times, people who think they are not benefitting equally to other groups can also be losers of modernization.

Arab Spring and the civil war in Syria pulled a huge number of refugees and undocumented immigrants to Italy since it is geographically at the edge of Europe. Some Italians think this immigration will be a huge problem for the economy and labor market as well as culture. The populist right-wing parties advocates themselves perfectly as protectors of "the people" and the "losers of modernization" as right-wing voting is frequently addressed as a result of political frustration and protest voting (Coffé 2004 as cited in Godal 2020, 15).

The disadvantage of this theory is during prosperous times the theory is arguably capable of measuring the rise of populist right-wing parties. Basic economic indicators such as unemployment levels or Gross Domestic Product may be well, but the populist radical right may still be on the rise. Furthermore, some argue that populist right-wing parties in a substantial welfare allocated country will get fewer votes since there are fewer disadvantages from being unemployed. Some claim the opposite of that, substantial welfare programs reinforce "losers of modernization theory" as it can be observed in Scandinavian countries (Godal 2020).

This theory can partly explain Lega's success. The theory is mainly based on the idea economic deprivation and social injustice can create "losers of globalization", who feel themselves as disadvantaged "other" in the society, and may vote for the populist right-wing parties. According to this theory after the 2009 European debt crisis, Lega's votes would increase since so many Italians became victims of globalization, but Lega's votes decreased. On the other hand, after the 2015 European refugee crisis, Lega's vote increased. According to some voters, refugees would

be an economic burden on the state, job market competition would increase, and refugees would diminish the social welfare of voters, so these voters became losers of modernization and voted for Lega.

2.2. Rational Choice Theory

Rational Choice Theory assumes that all actions are fundamentally rational in character and that individuals calculate the likely costs and benefits of any action before deciding what to do and complex social phenomena can be explained in terms of the elementary individual actions of which they are composed (Scott 2000). The theory assumes individuals make choices based on the available set of alternatives according to their cost and social welfare (Hindess 2014 as cited in Drabiuk 2019, 7). Some theorists have seen rationality as a result of psychological conditioning while others assume individuals act as they are completely rational (Scott 2000, 11).

Voters make their individual selections in the elections, calculating their costs and benefits among the alternative parties. In addition, right-wing populism encourages optimization, as it creates an opportunity for individuals to express their views that have been ignored by leaders in mainstream political parties (Drabiuk 2019, 8).

Some critics of the theory are some rational choice theorists "reduce voters to material interests" claiming the politicians' and voters' behaviors as attempts to maximize votes or wealth (Hawkins& Kaltwasser 2017, 536). Rational choice theories cannot clarify the origins of social norms, especially those of altruism, reciprocity, and trust (Scott 2000, 11). Some argue uncertainty and the socioeconomic environment play a crucial role in the determination of the choices made by diverse individuals (Hindess 2014 as cited in Drabiuk 2019, 7).

Moreover, as some theorists explained rationality as a result of psychological conditioning the theory is lacking in explaining the rise of populist right-wing parties in some countries with a high threshold in the proportional election system. As Duverger's Law assumes proportional representation favors multi-partyism, small parties are able to get seats. But with high thresholds, the mainstream parties are overrepresented in the parliament while the small parties are underrepresented or not have a chance to be presented. If the voters believe the small populist right-wing parties are able to pass the threshold, have seats in the parliament, they think their vote will not be "wasted" and vote for these parties. However, if they believe these parties are not able

to get sufficient votes, voters will not waste their votes for these parties. Thus, we cannot reduce the voter behaviors to individualistic cost and benefit analysis. The voters can be affected from polls and media and change their minds. In Italy, electoral thresholds are respectively low. Chamber of Deputies it is minimum 10% for a coalition and minimum 4% for any party not in a coalition for 2017 electoral law. With the 2020 Italian constitutional referendum, democratic representation will decrease by lowering the number of lawmakers in the 2023 elections.

Individuals do not only behave as rationalists, but numerous people also behave according to their emotions, and society's attitudes have a big impact on individuals' choices. Moreover, some voters are ossified voters and do not change the party they support, indifferent from the political situations and the stances of political parties. Individuals make optimization among alternatives however media can influence their emotions enormously. Their optimization is very open to media abuse. And especially in crisis time, media channels serve more click-bait sensational news to get advertisements. Lega benefitted from sensational news, the more sensational Lega's behavior, the more media attention it got, and became the topic of the political news. Thus, voters became aware of Lega more and Lega became known by wider voters.

As Psychologist Daniel Kahneman won Nobel Memorial Prize in Economic Sciences, people do not make rational choices based on their self-interest instead, people often make decisions "using rules of thumb (based on practical experience rather than theory) rather than rational analysis, and they base those decisions on factors such as fairness, past events and aversion to loss" (Smith 2002).

This theory can partly explain the popularity of Lega. Lega encourages optimization by creating an opportunity for voters to express their views which are ignored by mainstream parties. Voters who feel themselves as disadvantaged "other" or having the fear of becoming the disadvantaged "other" in the society, could vote for Lega as they think if Lega becomes stronger, they would benefit from Lega's promises such as strict immigration policy which Lega see as an economical and cultural threat.

According to Rational Choice Theory, we expect Lega voters vote for Lega according to their "rational choice" by calculating their own cost and benefits. On the other hand, voters are not "fully" rational, and can behave according to their emotions, their practical experience, the society's reactions and can easily be affected by the media. If the media had not covered news about Lega, or if there had been strong public protest against Lega, voters who had rationally chosen Lega might not have voted for Lega.

3. LEGA PARTY

Towards the end of the 1980s, it is seen that radical-right parties started to rise in Europe. In many countries such as France, Austria, Italy, Belgium, Germany, Switzerland, and Scotland, there was an increase in the voting rates of radical-right parties.

It is observed that the radical-right parties operating in European countries have been in a remarkable increase in votes in recent years. Especially since the beginning of the 1990s, the fact that the activities of radical-right parties in European countries became visible and gradually institutionalized and began to be seen as a problem. It can be said that the issue of the radical right in Europe has been an area that has been frequently discussed and examined in different aspects in the literature (Betz 1993, 415).

The failure of the mainstream political parties is effective in the rise of radical-right parties in Europe. Mainstream parties' inability to find solutions to the problems caused the radical-right parties to get stronger. Radical right movements are the reflection of the economic, political, and social dissatisfaction of the people. Unless the public can find what they hope for from the mainstream political parties, they turn to radical right politics. In recent years, a tendency towards authoritarianism has attracted attention due to this effect in European politics. It is possible to see the effects of authoritarianism, especially in topics such as immigration and integration, law and order, and national security since 1980s, and after 9/11 policies shifted even further which has led to the securitization of various other policy fields (Mudde 2013, 9).

3.1. Historical Development of the Lega Party

Looking at the historical origins of the Lega party, it is possible to see that it is based on the Lombard League. The party's historical roots include the Aosta Valley Union movement, which advocated the autonomy of the Aosta Valley, which was located in a region close to the French-Swiss borders, and therefore French is widely spoken and wanted its annexation to France in some periods (Bull and Gilbert 2001, 10 as cited in Arisoy 2010, 4).

In 1979, the Union of Aosta Valley (UV) tried to enter the European Parliament by bringing together the regional political parties that were in favor of autonomy under its leadership but it failed. However, the alliance called the Europe of Autonomy is important in terms of laying the foundations of the formation that will form the Lega in the future. Umberto Bossi, convinced by the then leader of the UV Bruno Salvadori, will emerge as the leader of the Lombard League and the Lega in the future. It will bring Padania, the imaginary country built in the northern region of Italy, to the agenda of the country. In 1979, the Northwest Lombard Union, known as Unolpa for short, was founded by Bossi. The movement, which failed in the local and regional elections of 1980, witnessed an important stage in the history of Lega (Tarchi 1998, 143 as cited in Arisoy 2010, 3).

Movements that emerged regionally and turned into political parties during these years did not achieve significant success. The most important reasons for this can be listed as the bipolar structure of Italian politics in those years, secondly, the fact that its political tendencies were not adopted by the public, and the regional identity discourses did not receive the expected attention by the people they represented. The activities of these political movements such as meetings, political demonstrations highlighting local characteristics, and political slogans using local dialects were not adopted by the public (Tarchi 1998, 144 as cited in Arisoy 2010, 3).

The first steps for the success of the regional parties and the tradition that formed the Lega were the discourses developed against the Southern Italian immigrants and their critical discourses against the political parties based in Rome. Unolpa transformed into the Lombard League in 1984 and succeeded in sending a deputy and a senator to the Parliament in the 1987 elections. Two years later, he received 6.5 percent of the vote in the Lombardy region in the European Parliament elections. After gaining strength, six political movements operating in Northern Italy came together to form the Lega (Farrell and Levy 1996, 135 as cited in Arisoy 2010, 3).

The Lega was initially formed as a federal organization and was described by some commentators as a multi-regional federation. Umberto Bossi continued to be president of both the Lega and the Lombard League. The start of Operation Clean Hands and then the beginning of the period called the Second Republic and used as an important opportunity by Lega. The eruption of traditional politics and party corruption scandals in this period led to a strengthening in the Lega. After the increase in the reactions in the northern regions, the rhetoric of the Lega progressed to the extent of separatism. This situation led Lega to gradually turn from regional to nationalism and become an important variable in Italian politics. As a result of this process, Lega received more than 8

percent of the nationwide votes in the general elections held in 1992. In this election, the rate of votes increased to 20.5 percent in Lombardy, where the Lega was born (Bull and Gilbert 2001, 135 as cited in Arisoy 2010, 4).

The Lega achieved greater success in the 1993 general elections and reached the position of the strongest party in the Milan city council, which is called the industrial capital of Italy. Milan is regarded by Lega as the true capital of the country. The Lega continued its political development. In the 1994 general elections, he allied with the Forza Italy party led by Berlusconi and took part in the PdL coalition. After long discussions, Forza Italy formed two separate coalitions covering the southern and northern regions. As a result of this alliance, 80 percent of the candidates in Lombadia and 65-70 percent in the other Northern regions were allocated to the Lega. After this alliance, Lega became the largest group in the parliament with 117 deputies and 61 senators in the 1994 elections and achieved historical success (Tarchi 1998, 145). In this election, it was seen that there were dramatic vote losses in the regions where Lega was effective. A natural result of this situation Lega has become influential in central politics, not relying on the power it draws from its traditional base. This will also lead to the weakening of regional discourses. Interestingly, the Lega continued to perceive Forza Italy, its coalition partner, as its strongest enemy, and continued its opposition within the coalition (Farrell and Levy 1996, 145 as cited in Arisoy 2010, 5).

This disagreement between Lega and Forza Italy led to the disintegration of the coalition government, like the short-term governments of the First Republic. Although the disagreement mainly stems from the political power struggles within the coalition, Lega's nine macro-regional federalism plan, which was prepared based on the historical period map before the national political unity of Italy, was also effective in the disintegration of the government. When Lega left the coalition, Forza Italy had to decide for early elections. Lega continued its success nationally and received 10.4 percent of the vote. Lega received 30 percent of the vote in the Veneto region and 25 percent in the Lombardy region. The fact that Lega did not join the alliances after this election brought the left alliance Olive Tree (Ulivo) to power (Andrews 2003, 3 as cited in Arisoy 2010, 6).

The Lega suddenly started to put forward separatist policies after its strengthening, especially after 1996. The Lega, which introduced federalism as a radical policy in the early periods, started to defend the independence of the fictitious Northern Italian country, which it called Padania, by making its policy more radical after the implementation of the reforms in terms of federalism of the left coalition that came to power. Building a new nation by constructing a common history,

common symbols and even rituals in an area that has become homogeneous to a large extent and integrated with the rest of the peninsula in more than a century, and whose borders are not precisely defined, has been defined as "virtual nationalism" (Tambini 2001, 1-25 as cited in Arisoy 2010, 6).

The separatist policies advocated by the Lega in this period caused the Lega to lose power and some regional leagues allying broke away from the movement. There were public opinion surveys that showed that the regional and separatist policies advocated by the Lega had no equivalent for both the people of the region and the Italians in general. The separatist policies of Lega both failed to find support from its own base and caused reactions and divisions within the party. An important reaction against the party came from the voters during the 2001 general elections. The increasingly radical policies of the Lega, which increased its votes with its reaction against the system during the Operation Clean Hands period, caused a serious loss of votes in the 2001 elections. The Lega, which received 5 percent of the vote in the 2000 regional elections, decreased to 4 percent in the 2001 general elections.

The Lega, which largely abandoned separatist policies and returned to federalism after the decline in 2000 and 2001 and approached the center right (Arisoy 2010, 8). It is seen that in the 2001 elections, Lega took part in the PdL coalition, which was previously disbanded. This coalition, under the leadership of Berlusconi, remained in power until 2006, making history as Italy's longestlived government. In this election, Lega's participation in the elections together with the radicalright National Alliance (AN) did not cause a problem and it was not necessary to go to an alliance in two poles. The Lega took over the Ministry of Justice, the Ministry of Welfare, the Ministry of Reforms, and Devolution during this period of power. The Lega, which was integrated into the system during this period, still did not give up its separatist approach. Going further, the party changed its name to the "Lega Nord for the Independence of Padania" in 2002 (Arisoy 2010, 9). In the first article of the party's charter, the party stated that it aimed for Padania's independence and recognition as a sovereign federal state and expressed its desire to achieve this goal through democratic means. Lega's votes did not increase significantly. The party gained 5.1 percent of the votes in the 2004 European Parliament elections, and 5.6 percent in the 2005 regional elections. In the 2006 elections, Lega changed its policy. Despite the alliance, Lega, which entered the election with the Autonomy Movement from Sicily, was able to get 4.5 percent of the vote. It can be said that this movement of the Lega played a role in the loss of power to the right coalition, as in the past. In Italy, which was ruled by the left alliance in the 2006-2008 period, the Lega, which was included in the right alliance again before the 2008 elections, received 8.3 percent of the vote

at the national level (Arisoy 2010, 8), again changed tactics in the regional elections in March 2010. The party, which went to the elections with separate alliances in each region, won 26.2 percent in Lombardy, 35.2 percent in Veneto, 10.2 percent in the Liguria region of Genoa, 16.7 percent in Turin-based Piemonte and Bologna-based Emilia-Romagna. It received 13.6 percent of the vote. The Lega received 6.4 percent of the vote in Tuscany, 6.3 percent in Marche, and 4.3 percent in Umbria (Archivio Storico delle Elezioni 2010 as cited in Arisoy 2010, 10).

The Lega continued to be an important party for Italy in the 2013 general elections. Despite the falling vote, the party managed to send 20 deputies to the House of Representatives. The party, which received 4.3 percent of the votes in the Republican Senate elections, sent 18 representatives to the Senate. In the 2018 elections, it is seen that Lega made a big vote explosion. The party, which received 17.4 percent of the votes in the House of Representatives election, ranked third and sent 124 deputies to the parliament. In the Republican Senate elections, the party received 17.6 percent of the votes and elected 58 senators. The Lega won 5 deputies with 6.2 percent of the votes in the 2014 European Parliament elections and 28 deputies with 34.3 percent of the votes in 2019. The last election shows that the Lega Nord has risen to an influential position in Italy. The Lega has taken on three ministries in the government established in February 2021 by former European Central Bank President Draghi, whom President Sergio Mattarella mandated to form the government.

3.2. Ideological Foundations

While discussing the ideological orientation of the Lega Nord party for the Independence of Padania; Populism, ethno-regionalist, neo-federalist, new right, chauvinist, radical right even racism are described (Arisoy 2010, 10).

Uncertainty and flexibility are among the remarkable features of the party. It is seen that the blurring of right and left ideological distinctions in Italian politics since the Second Republic period also affected Lega. The fact that the main discourses of the Lega, which initially emerged as anti-system but later included in the political system, are still based on system opposition can be explained in order to define the party itself outside of classical ideologies. The Lega is gaining votes with the discourse of the new formation. The Lega, like all radical-right parties, feeds on the failures of the system parties and gathers strength (Farrell and Levy 1996, 132 as cited in Arisoy 2010, 11).

Interestingly, Lega used the separatist discourse-based power it gained in the northern regions as a result of flexibility in political negotiations, maneuvers, and tactical changes, and tried to use regional power in the national sense. It is observed that the party has been successful in this. Another feature of the Lega is that it is organized in the form of the upper political structure of regional parties. This situation, which is compatible with the historical development of the party, is considered important. During the system crisis that coincided with its establishment, Lega achieved success by utilizing the opportunities of the period with the discourse of anti-systemism rather than separatism and regionalism (Parker 2006, 247 as cited in Arisoy 2010, 11).

Lega confronted the system, which was known with political crises and scandals and was shaken, with different and postmodern discourses, which can be called new, and thus gained success. In a process where the system parties are collapsing due to corruption, it channeled protest votes against the system with its harsh propaganda language and its sometimes rude structure (Farrell and Levy 1996, 143 as cited in Arisoy 2010, 11). After the corruption scandals, the slogan of "Thief Rome" produced by the party appealed to the middle classes especially in the industrialized northern region. Lega also appealed to big business owners and entrepreneurs with its anti-globalization rhetoric. Northern entrepreneurs were under the pressure of increasing competition in the process of globalization on the one hand and the European single market on the other hand. The overlapping of the northern entrepreneurs' expectations for the flexibility and federalization of the state organization and the discourses of the Lega Nord in the same direction were also effective in the success of the movement in this first period (Bull & Gilbert 2001, 2; Farrell and Levy 1996, 143 as cited in Arisoy 2010, 11).

Demanding the full implementation of the free market economy, advocating tax cuts, favoring privatization, and downsizing the state were seen as positive statements by northern businessmen. Businesspeople believed that the secessionist policies of the Lega were important if the country could not adapt to the European single market and was pushed out of the EU system, amid concerns that Italy would not meet the Maastricht Criteria. Northern Italy business people would be in danger of being isolated from their main market and ostracized from Europe (Tarchi 1998, 150; Bull and Gilbert 2001, 108 as cited in Arisoy 2010, 12). Northern regions were able to meet the requirements of the single market in terms of economic performance. Therefore, existing alone in Europe without carrying the burden of the south was very attractive and "profitable" to these people (Arisoy 2010, 12).

The Lega produced a discourse by combining Italy's north-south divide with the Euro-Mediterranean divide. The south is described as lazy and backward in this discourse, while the north is presented as an example of production, industry, and development. This attitude of the party was considered by some as a neo-orientalist perspective towards the south and as a polite expression of racism by others (Farrell and Levy 1996, 141 as cited in Arisoy 2010, 12).

For Lega, regional discrimination is supported not only by folkloric elements and opposition to the south but also by production relations, level of development, and trade. According to this view, northerners are compatible and show similarities both in terms of their historical, ethnic, and cultural structure and in terms of production relations. This situation is also called the Germanic renaissance (Miglio 1994, 91-92 as cited in Arisoy 2010, 13).

On the other hand, the discourse and policies of separatism, which the Lega has brought to the agenda for years and even changed its name were not supported by the party base. It was seen Northern League's own elite is not very sincere about separatism and uses the "separatism card" as a bluff to gain power in the center (Arisoy 2010, 13). While the policy of separatism continued, the alliance with Sicily was found interesting. In this context, the discourse began to be put forward that the northerners represent values such as honesty, hard work, and thrift instead of geographical belonging, and that the Italians who carry these values can see themselves as supporters of the Lega. In this process, negative rhetoric towards southerners shifted to refugees and illegal immigrants from outside the EU, and xenophobia started to increase (Andrews 2003, 3 as cited in Arisoy 2010, 13). Here, it is seen that discrimination in the traditional discourse of Lega was reproduced through refugees.

3.3. Its Place in Italian Politics

The Lega has an important place in Italian politics. Despite its controversial political rhetoric and maneuvers, the party filled an important gap in the Italian right-wing politics. The party, especially with its harsh and populist rhetoric, fulfills the function of preventing the masses who are against the negativities of the system from turning to alternatives outside the system. The Lega uses a discourse that is claimed to be outside the system and wins the votes of those who are angry with the current system. However, when its place in political alliances is examined, it is seen that the Lega party has shifted to the center right as its vote rate has increased over the years and will use

rhetoric again it is out of the system as its votes decrease. In this sense, it is considered that the most important function of the party is to pull protest votes that are angry with the current system.

The Lega, which interprets postmodernism effectively and applies it to its policies, shows that the voters prefer to confront classical ideologies and parties with different and populist discourses, which shows that it has its own characteristics in Italian political life.

The Lega has also demonstrated a reality in its attempt to cause the government to disintegrate by breaking its alliance with Forza Italy. It emerges as truth, uncertainty, and flexibility. Despite being criticized, the party has the agility to boldly resort to new and radical changes and methods. By advocating regionalism and separatism for many years, Lega can increase the game on the national level or enter into alliances with political movements in a targeted region such as Sicily. Such unexpected exits and initiatives somehow attract the voters and allow Lega to continue its activities as one of the distinctive political parties of the Second Republic (Arisoy 2010, 14).

It is possible to say that the need for the Lega party will continue for a long time in Italian politics, with its political instability and its compulsory nature of alliances. The party has become a key party by revealing the dynamics of change in its policies, at least on the plane of populism. Examples include winning elections to the left coalition by not joining the alliance, disbanding the government by withdrawing from the alliance, being a decisive and key party.

The most distinctive feature of the post-1948 period in Italian politics is instability. In Italy, where the 67th government came to power in 73 years, the Lega party is gaining success with its unstable and flexible rhetoric. In a sense, the Lega, which has the appearance of a party that benefits from instability, embodies the basic features of the country's politics.

3.4. Recent Developments

The most important development in the Italian political system in recent years is the disappearance of the bi-block structure in the political system. Particularly, Italian politics, which was divided into communist and anti-communist blocs until Operation Clean Hands and divided into centerright and center-left blocs in the Second Republic Period, has recently evolved into a different dimension with the inclusion of three new actors. This change represents a first in the democratic system that Italy has maintained since 1947. The high vote rates of Forza Italy, which entered politics after Operation Clean Hands, and the Lega and M5S parties, which gained strength show that a new understanding of politics has emerged in the country (Akman 2020, 1614).

Italy's electoral reform Rosatellum which was accepted in 2017, has created controversy in the country. The main reason for this is that the M5S strongly opposed this reform. M5S opposes the law, which is supported by the Democratic Party, Forza Italy, and the Lega. At the center of the important political debates in Italian political life since the Second Republic period is election system reforms (Akman 2020, 1617). The main criticism of the electoral system in Italy is that it encourages alliances by increasing the number of parties and creates instability by leading to weak short-term coalitions. The period of the Second Republic began to be called the period of alliances and coalitions as a result of electoral reforms. However, in terms of office, it can be said that the terms were longer compared to the period of the First Republic. While the average period of power was 322 days between 1948/1994, it increased to 523 days in the period covering 1994-2006. This period has been extended and increased to an average of 729 days in the 2006-2014 period (Mis and Duran 2018, 24 as cited in Akman 2020, 1620).

In this period, Lega has always gained an important place among right-wing coalitions.

3.5. Lega Leader Matteo Salvini

Matteo Salvini is the leader of the Lega Nord for the Independence of Padania since December 2013. Between 1 June 2018 and 5 September 2019, Salvini served as Deputy Prime Minister of Italy and Minister of Interior. He also serves Member of the Senate of the Republic. He was member of the European Parliament between 2004 and 2018.

Salvini has a harsh attitude towards the European Union. Salvini, who expressed opposition to the Euro system, is known as a politician with a skeptical approach to the European Union. Salvini has come to the fore with his harsh and anti-refugee rhetoric, especially with the influx of immigrants to Italy in recent years. It should be noted that Salvini strongly opposes the policies determined by the European Union and the European Commission towards immigrants. Salvini is seen as one of the most important leaders of the populist political movement not only in Italy but also in Europe. Salvini, who is also expressed as the leader of the radical right-wing and neonationalist movement that emphasizes localization and protectionism in the face of globalization, is among the most important actors of right-wing politics in Italy.

Leader of the Lega, Salvini is referred to by his political supporters as Captain (Il Capitano). Salvini is seen as a powerful and authoritarian politician (Mattioli 2018). Especially after 2018, he started to be considered as one of the most influential politicians in Italy (Kirchgaessner 2018).

In 2013 Roberto Maroni, announced that he would leave the party leadership. In December 2013, Salvini was elected leader, defeating Umberto Bossi by a large margin of 82 percent. Salvini has since described the Euro issue as a crime against humanity and has started to make a strong opposition. Likewise, opposition to the European Union began to come to the fore in the party's policies. Salvini collaborated with French right-wing party leader Marine Le Pen and Dutch rightwing party Leader Geert Wilders (tmnews.it 2013), and this is how the 2014 European Parliament elections were held. Salvini, who received 6.2 percent of the votes and 5 deputies in the European Parliament elections, suffered a defeat compared to the previous elections. The party's votes had fallen by 4 percent compared to the 2009 elections. However, this result was more successful than the 2013 general elections. The party congress convened in July after this election approved Salvini's political rhetoric, a flat tax proposal, and a plan to establish a sister party in south-central Italy and the Insular Italy. In the Emilia-Romagna regional elections held in November, an important threshold for Salvini's national project was crossed. The Lega became the second party with 19.4 percent of the votes. This result paved the way for Lega to pretend to be a national party. The sister party NcS, which was decided in the congress in December, was established. Election polls conducted during this period revealed that Matteo Salvini's popularity continued to increase continuously. Salvini's vote rose from 28 percent to 33 percent. Salvini began to come to the fore as a rising power and leader in Italy.

Salvini organized a rally on the issue of illegal immigrants, which came to the fore in 2015 and came to the world's agenda. The 28 February 2015 rally was held in Rome. Although there were important struggles and divisions within the party in the regional elections in 2015, Lega gained an important position by receiving very high votes in cities where it was weak such as Veneto, Liguria, Tuscany, Marche, and Umbria.

In December 2017, Salvini introduced the new logo of Lega, prepared for the 2018 general elections, to the public. For the first time, the Lega party logo did not include the word "north". The party decided to compete in all constituencies of the country with this logo. It was stated that the logo was inspired by Donald Trump's 2016 presidential campaign (biografieonline.it 2021).

The Lega showed great success in the 2018 elections. The party managed to become the third party in Italy by receiving 17.4 percent of the votes. The party received most of its votes in the Northern

regions. However, the main success of the party was the votes received from the central and southern parts of the country. The Lega received significant votes from central and southern Italy, but also logged in the rest. 20.2 percent of the votes were received in Umbria, Central Italy, 13.8 percent in Abruzzo, Southern Italy, and 10.8 percent in Sardinia. Matteo Salvini was elected leader of the right-wing coalition with the most votes. Parties that could not form a government and compromise for a long time led to an important political crisis. In May, the Five Star Movement and the Lega announced that they had agreed on a new government.

During the leadership of Matteo Salvini, very important corruption charges were also claimed against Lega. Salvini began to shift party members and channel financial resources to the established parallel party. The confiscation of the accounts of the Lega was discussed. On February 22, 2019, the Italian magazine L'Espresso publicly announced secret cooperation between Lega and Putin administration-related organizations. Kremlin-linked organizations were providing 3 million Euros of financing to the party under the sale of diesel fuel. It was claimed that the money would be used to finance the election campaign. It was stated that the investigation of the Italian judicial units on this issue continues (Tizian&Vergine 2019).

The illegal funding of \$65 million by Russia to Lega's major investigation into the financial structure of Lega was opened. The formal cooperation agreement signed between Lega and the ruling United Russia Party confirmed the allegations (Tondo 2019).

In December 2019, a new financing scandal emerged. This time, Lega was ordered by Italy's highest court to repay \notin 49 million in illegally obtained funds. Manager Belsito was sentenced to prison by this court (Jones 2019).

In the 2019 European Parliament elections, Salvini sought to unite the radical-right parties in a pan-European alliance. In this context, he founded the European Peoples and Nations Alliance. Despite the accusations against him, Matteo Salvini achieved a very important success by getting more than 34 percent of the votes in the European Parliament elections in Italy. The European Coalition for Identity and Democracy, of which the Lega is a member, has become the fifth largest group in the EP (Barry 2019).

Salvini, who was sworn in on 1 June 2018 and took office as Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of Interior, declared that his most important goal is to greatly reduce the number of illegal immigrants coming to Italy. Italian media wrote that Salvini placed himself in a more dominant role than Prime Minister Comte and set the country's agenda.

Salvini sparked a diplomatic crisis with Tunisia. Minister Salvini announced that the Tunisian government is sending convicts to Europe only to commit crimes. Salvini's statements and actions that set the agenda on immigration continued. Salvini pointed out that every country in Europe determined its own policy and announced that Italian ports were closed to immigrants. The ship, which was being brought on a ship by the international aid organization and carrying 600 immigrants, was rejected by the Italian authorities. The ship was accepted by Spain the next day (bbc.co.uk 2018).

Salvini has previously said he is considering action against organizations that rescue migrants at sea. He has accused them of being in cahoots with people-smugglers. He said that Italy was saying "no to human trafficking, no to the business of illegal immigration". Salvini refused to let the ships in, saying: "Saving lives is a duty, turning Italy into a huge refugee camp is not." "Italy is done bending over backward and obeying - this time There Is Someone Who Says No" he wrote on Twitter, with the hashtag #closethedoors (bbc.com 2018).

On June 16, 2018 Salvini stated that the government would hold a census of Roma in Italy to deport anyone illegally present in the country. He said "It is not our intention to register or take fingerprints on anyone - he specified - our goal is a reconnaissance of the situation of Roma camps. We intend to protect first of all thousands of children who are not allowed to attend school regularly because they prefer to introduce them to delinquency. We also want to check how the millions of euros that come from European funds are spent" (Custodero 2018). Salvini's proposal created significant controversy in the country. This census was opposed, stating that race registration in Italy is prohibited by the constitution. Prime Minister Conte forced Salvini to withdraw his offer. The opposition also reacted harshly to Salvini.

In September 2018, the Council of Ministers approved the "Salvini Decree", which ended the practices that provided basic protection to immigrants and ensured the deportation of immigrants. The decree also included the suspension of refugee applications that were deemed socially risky. In June 2019, Matteo Salvini's government came to the fore with a new immigration scandal. The ship Sea Watch 3 took 53 immigrants off the coast of Libya and headed for the port of Lampedusa. However, the Italian administration did not allow immigrants to enter Italy. On June 29, the captain of the ship docked the ship without permission. Captain Rackete was arrested by the Italian authorities. Salvini, on the other hand, accused Rackete of trying to sink the Italian boat, claiming it was an act of war. Making a call to the Netherlands, Salvini had to release the captain after the court's decision that the law had not been violated (euronews.com 2019).

In August 2019, Deputy Prime Minister Salvini wanted to carry out a political operation against Prime Minister Conte. It was commented that Salvini, who submitted a motion of no confidence against Conte on the grounds of increasing tension within the coalition, aimed to have an early election decision. However, Prime Minister Conte accused Salvini of opportunism and stated that he was fueling the political crisis to serve his own interests. Later, Prime Minister Conte began negotiations with the center-left coalition to form a new government. This attempt by Salvini failed and Salvini, who was the deputy prime minister, fell into opposition. After the establishment of the Conte 2 Government, Salvini began to harshly criticize the new government for its immigration policies (rainews.it 2019).

Salvini's economic policies can be listed as fiscal federalism, flat tax, tax reduction, protectionism, transport, and reform in agriculture. Salvini, who is against same-sex marriage, supports the legalization of brothels. Arguing that gun laws should be relaxed, Salvini brought this issue to the agenda when he was Minister of Interior. Salvini also criticizes the necessity of the vaccine after the coronavirus epidemic. Among his interesting practices, he retweeted a message on his official Twitter account in 2016 calling for "the shooting of communist judges". Salvini said one of his staff members sent the call by mistake (ansa.it 2016).

Salvini opposes Turkey's EU membership in foreign policy (ansa.it 2019). He accused France of bringing mass immigration to Europe (Shaw 2019). Salvini also supported Saudi Arabia's coup attempt against Qatar. Salvini, who first praised Saudi Arabia during his vice-premiership, later praised Qatar for balancing it against Saudi Arabian extremism (lapresse.it 2018). Salvini also supported the decision to recognize Jerusalem as Israel's capital (Momigliano 2018). He supported the radical right Bolsonaro government in Brazil (terra.com 2018).

Salvini, who has been among Russian President Vladimir Putin's main supporters in Western Europe, has pledged to help refugees fleeing Ukraine from the Russian invasion. forcing some to abandon their previous allegiance to Putin. Salvini has previously worn t-shirts depicting Putin on Red Square in Moscow and at the European Parliament, and has stated that he prefers him to Italian President Sergio Mattarella. The Russian invasion of Ukraine has thrown several far-right movements across Europe into disarray, Salvini said, there was "clearly an attacker and an assaulted" and that Italy should side with the latter, without saying Russian President Vladimir Putin's name (Amante 2022).

3.6. Xenophobia in Salvini's Statements

On January 24, 2020, Salvini rang the bell of a Tunisian production house and asked the family if they sell drugs. He said "I'm glad I rang the bell. I don't regret it. It doesn't matter if the drug dealers are Italian or Tunisian. Drugs kill. Those who vote for the League Party choose to wage war against drug dealers." (Congar 2020). He emphasized immigrants and foreigners as being linked to criminal activities.

Among the main factors that feed xenophobia is the portrayal of immigrants and foreigners as being linked to criminal activities. Although there are no concrete rates and indicators showing that crime rates are related to immigrants, making this accusation is among the classic discourses of xenophobic politicians (Yilmaz 2008, 4).

In this discourse of Salvini, another indicator of xenophobia, the behavior of defining oneself with the declared "other" is seen. The behavior of marginalizing those who are not like themselves becomes the most important motivation source that feeds discrimination, especially in societies where the culture of living together is not assimilated. The other is shown as the source of all kinds of evil in discourse and action (Hudson 2004, 311).

In another controversial statement, he answered the question "Do you eat Nutella" by his supporters, who attended a rally held on December 6, 2019, "There is Turkish hazelnut in it, it would be better if it was Italian hazelnut". Salvini made this controversial statement because he wanted to help Italian farmers. Salvini said at a rally in Rome in November 2019, "The efforts to bring Turkey into Europe are insane. I would rather talk to Russia or Israel than to deal with an Islamist state." he said. With this statement, Salvini targeted Turks, Russian-Orthodox, and Jews (Samar 2019). In another statement, Salvini targeted Muslims in Europe and said "It is not something I want to leave European cities with an Islamist caliphate governed by sharia law behind us and I will do my best to prevent it" (Gunduz 2019).

Another controversial action of Matteo Salvini is the act of not allowing immigrants transported by ships to the territorial waters of the country to Italy by international aid organizations. Making a statement about this event, which occupied the agenda of Europe and Italy for days in July 2019, Salvini made the statement that "It is my duty to control the number of immigrants while millions of my citizens are looking for a job in my country" (Koyuncu 2019). Salvini also commented on the criticism of the famous actor Richard Gere about the rejection of immigrants to Italy, "The generous millionaire Open Arms has openly expressed his demands for the future of his immigrants. We thank him. He will take everyone (immigrants) on his private jet to his villa in Hollywood. Am I wrong?" replied (Congar 2019).

3.7. Content Analysis of Salvini's Disclosures

The discourse and activities of the Lega Nord Party Leader, Matteo Salvini, provide important data in terms of explaining xenophobic political movements in Italy and Europe. Salvini's publicly controversial statements draw attention with their xenophobic content, as well as their populist content.

Based on Salvini's statements, it has the subtext that Italians are the real owners of Italy and that the Italian people are economically damaged and corrupted due to the influence of immigrants and foreigners. From this point of view, the solution to the problems of the country is presented as a country free of immigrants and non-Italians. In Salvini's discourses, it is argued that the main cause of economic problems, criminal acts, cultural corruption, and related problems is immigrants. It can be said that these discourses generally include expressions that are not based on concrete data and consist of slogans. It can be interpreted that populism is clearly seen in Salvini's statements.

There is a perception of being superior in the subtext of Matteo Salvini's ideas and discourses. It is seen that the idea of superiority, which has become entrenched in Europe since the colonial period, has important effects on Salvini's intellectual infrastructure. The message that the representatives of an inferior culture will harm the superior culture is often given in the discourses. The foundations of the idea of defending the high and sacred culture against the representatives of the lower cultures and nations that would harm them and trying to prevent the effects can be found in the colonial period.

Many of Salvini's statements are ridiculed and belittled by his opponents. Such statements and attempts of Salvini, which can also be used as a humor element from time to time; seem possible to have outputs such as gaining the middle and lower classes. On the other hand, when we compare the discourses of the founder of Lega Nord, Umberto Bossi and Salvini we can see that Bossi's discourses are much harsher than Salvini.

3.8. Critique of Salvini's Views

The views defended by Matteo Salvini are constantly on the agenda of Italy and the European Union and create controversy. Salvini's pursuit of alliances with radical right and ultra-nationalist political parties in the countries forming the union also draws attention and threatens European values. In this context, the criticism of Salvini's views is important.

It is seen that Salvini has been doing politics with a populist, and pragmatist approach throughout his political life. In this context, although the views and policies he advocated have changed over the years, it is seen that these orientations have never changed. Salvini, who came to the forefront with regional discrimination in the first periods he entered politics and demanded the independence of Padania with the slogan "North First", changed this slogan to "Italians First" after a while and turned regional discrimination into xenophobia.

Ensuring the continuity of European values, security and democracy require such an assessment of radical-right parties. In this study, while the history of fascism and the role of the Lega Nord Party in this process are discussed, it is seen that the movement threatens European values.

European values are listed in the second article of the Treaty on European Union. The second article of the agreement states, "The Union is founded on the principles of human dignity, freedom, democracy, equality, the rule of law and respect for human rights, including the rights of persons belonging to minorities. These values are common to member states in a society where pluralism, non-discrimination, tolerance, justice, solidarity, and equality between women and men prevail" (ab.gov.tr 2020). When the Lega Nord and Matteo Salvini are evaluated with this definition, it is seen that almost none of the basic values are included in the party program.

4. CRISIS INFLUENCE ON LEGA

In this chapter, I will analyze how and why Lega's votes changed after the 2009 European debt crisis and 2015 Immigration crisis in Europe. I will also shortly examine Lega's popularity after the covid-19 crisis. I used the term immigration crisis rather than the refugee crisis, despite immigrants can be economic migrants who have less opposition than refugees. On the other hand, these economic migrants' families who came to Italy by family unification or asylum seekers/refugees are opposed more. As Table 3 in 4.2.3rd part shows for Lega supporters, immigrants from the same ethnicity/race are only 10% more favorable than immigrants from different ethnicities/races and poorer countries outside the EU.

4.1. The 2009 European Debt crisis

With the bankruptcy of Lehman Brothers in 2008 and after great losses in the real estate market, banking and financial crisis emerged in the United States and globally affected the world. Euro also suffered from this crisis and the European debt crisis emerged at the end of 2009. Greece and Spain are the most affected countries in Europe. Italy is the eurozone's third-largest economy despite Italy's economic situation was not so well before the crisis. Italy was hit hard by the European debt crisis and its effects are still ongoing.

In economic crisis, individuals compete about limited resources. In these conditions, groups blame the outgroup for economic problems (Golder 2016, 483). Golder emphasizes that unemployment causes the rise of right-wing support only when immigration is high enough. He argues if unemployment's reason is labor market rigidities voters have little incentive to support right-wing. But if voters believe unemployment is high because of immigration, then they support the right-wing parties (Golder 2003 as cited in Golder 2016, 484).

4.1.1. Crisis Effect on Italian Economy

In 2010, Italy needed to confront the deepest and longest recession in its history in the context of the Euro crisis (Guiso et al. 2017). Italy's Government Debt to Gross Domestic Product increased sharply after the 2008 economic crisis (Trading Economics 2020).
Italy has a big decrease in GDP growth after the 2008 economic crisis. Italy's annual GDP growth decreased by 5,281% in 2009 (World Bank 2020). But from the unemployment levels, we can say that the situation is stabilized, and Italians are not feeling the crisis as it was in the first years of crisis. Italy's unemployment rates increased from 8.4% in 2011 to 12,7% in 2013 and decreased to 9,3% in 2020 (Statista 2022). On the other hand, youth unemployment rate in Italy was so high. It was more than 20% in 2008 and hit 29% in 2011, with steadily increasing numbers it was the highest in 2014 with 42,79% (Macrotrends 2022).

In the beginning of the crisis Lega was led by Umberto Bossi and was in the government coalition with The People of Freedom (Italian: Il Popolo della Libertà, PdL) led by Silvio Berlusconi. The government took austerity measures such as pension reform (e.g., deindexation from cost of living, increase in pensionable age), new taxes (e.g., property, financial assets, financial transactions), and cuts to social and health services (Giglioli 2022).

4.1.2. European Debt Crisis Effect on Lega's Votes

As Table 1 shows, Lega's votes decreased by 4,21% in the Chamber of Deputies and 3.73% in the Senate of the Republic from 2008 national elections to 2013 national elections after the European debt crisis. It does not seem that the European debt crisis is a contributing factor to the popularity of the Lega in Italy (Lee 2020).

LEGA'S VOTES FROM 2006 TO 2018 ELECTIONS					2015 Migrant crisis	2009 European Debt Crisis	
		2006	2008	2013	2018	'13-'18 Change	'08-'13 Change
lof	Total votes	1.769.501	3.026.865	1.392.918	18.091.104	16.698.186	-1.633.947
	Popular votes	4,58%	8,30%	4,09%	17,35%	13,26%	-4,21%
	Number of seats won	26	60	18	125	107	-42
Senate of The Republic	Total votes	1.550.785	2.644.361	1.416.461	16.875.971	15.459.510	-1.227.900
	Popular votes	4,48%	8,06%	4,33%	17,61%	13,28%	-3,73%
	Number of seats won	14	25	18	58	40	-7

Table 1. Lega	's results from	2006 to 2018	national election

Source: Lee (2020, 30)

In 2013 national elections, votes went less to candidates promising to soften or contest austerity, than to those saying, or hinting, that they would reject it. Mario Monti, the head of austerity policy in Italy, was ousted and Beppe Grillo's (former leader of M5S) promise of a referendum on the

euro certainly played a role in the success of this move. This was an Italy that said no to austerity (the guardian.com 2013).

In the 2013 elections, Lega's electoral program did not mention the crisis and it was not able to use the crisis theme in its favor recording one of its lowest electoral results. A new party The Five Star Movement (M5S) became the largest party in Italy (Guiso et al. 2017).

I am aware that only economic crisis factor did not affect Lega's votes. Its votes depend on many other factors. For instance, it was a more regionalist and separatist party and did not embrace nationalism. But in this debt crisis, we saw that voters cast the ballot for parties which are against the austerity measures. If Lega's party program and leader's rhetoric include populism and create an enemy like in the 2015 migration crisis, maybe Lega's votes would be higher.

4.1.3. Conclusion: Economic Crisis Influence on 2013 Elections

The economic crisis has affected Italian democracy in different ways and the economic crisis caused the political crisis. The economic crisis affected by reshaping of political alternatives, development of an opposite trend (toward unitarianizm), development of protest parties (Morlino& Piana 2014,17).

Economic Crisis revealed a picture of declining participation, systematic incumbent punishment, frequently without an increase in support for official opposition, and the rise of challenger parties (Bosco & Verney 2012 as cited in Bosco & Verney 2013, 398).

When the global economic crisis hit Italy, Berlusconi's government resisted it by supporting banks and big firms and cutting public expenditure. This policy was also supported by the Opposition but the way the Government put it into practice was opposed about lack of transparency, inefficiency and inequity (Di Quirico 2010, 3).

The unexpected end of Berlusconi's government in 2011, the period of transition under Monti's technocratic government by austerity measures and the rise of the Five Star Movement (M5S) as a new competitor strongly influenced voters' party evaluations (Passarelli & Tuorto 2014,147). Moreover, during Monti government, Lega became the main parliamentary opposition since PdL supported the government and worse was come to Lega "in 2012 with the revelation of party

misuse of public funds, in particular by figures close to Umberto Bossi (including two of his sons)" (Bartlett et al. 2011, 21). Bossi resigned in April 2012 and Maroni was elected as new Federal Secretary at the party congress in July 2012.

For the first time in 20 years a party outside the two main center–left and center–right coalitions, the M5S, gained enormous level of support.

Passarelli & Tuorto (2014,156) shows that "(1) only some of the voters who were most critical towards the parties' management of the economy chose the mainstream opposition; (2) non-voting absorbed only a part of the discontent; and (3) many voters (above all, the component who were the most politically aware) preferred to express their discontent by voting for a radical party (M5S), rather than by abstaining." and voting for MS5 suggests the emergence of a new model of retrospective economic voting, which challenges the traditional interplay between the incumbents and the typical opposition.

Despite MS5- a populist party, gained a strong rise in 2013 elections we saw that Lega lose 4% of support according to 2008 elections.

4.2. 2015 Immigration Crisis

The crisis started in 2015 when Europe saw a steep increase in the number of refugees seeking asylum. The majority of these refugees came from regions affected by conflict, specifically Syria, Afghanistan, and Iraq being the top three sources of fleeing citizens looking for safety and shelter on European territory, as reported by Eurostat (2016 as cited in Damoc 2016, 22). The European Union's plan was to increase border control, security checks, and filters in order to better manage the refugee inflow as well as combat smugglers and human traffickers (European Commission press release 2015 as cited in Damoc 2016, 22). The most controversial point was distributing the quotas to countries which was approved by the European Parliament with a total of 449 votes for and 130 against ('Parliament agrees on binding refugee quotas', 2015 as cited in Damoc 2016).

4.2.1. Italy's Situation

Italy is geographically on the edge of Europe and a "gate" to the European Union. Refugees from the Middle East and Africa following the path through the Mediterranean were common but after civil wars in Syria and ongoing conflicts in Africa the number of refugees increased numerously. Syrian refugees came through Turkey to Greece and Italy.

More than 700.000 refugees arrived to Italia by sea from 2014 to 2021.

Previous years	Sea arrivals	Dead and missing	
2014	170,100	3,093	
2015	153,842	2,913	
2016	181,436	4,578	
2017	119,369	2,873	
2018	23,370	1,311	
2019	11,471	754	
2020	34,154	955	
2021	67,477	1,496	

Table 2. Sea Arrivals to Italy in 2020

Source: UNHCR (January 17, 2022)

Italy has been also one of the most applied countries for asylum seekers in the European Union. In 2016 and 2017, Italy is the second most applied country for asylum applications after Germany among EU (Eurostat 2022).

4.2.2. National Election Results

After the immigration crisis, from 2013 national elections to 2018 national elections, Lega's vote increased by 13.26% in popular votes for the Chamber of Deputies and a 13.28% in popular votes for the Senate of the Republic. We see a positive correlation between the increase in Lega's votes and the onset of the immigration crisis. Lega has its biggest gain in popular vote percentage during the years that correlate with the immigration crisis (Lee 2020).

Despite Lega's center of campaign was anti-immigration before the 2018 elections, I am aware that the immigration crisis was not the only factor that contributed to Lega's success. This success depends on many other factors such as other parties' political campaigns and the electoral system. On the other hand, when I compared the Lega party program and the leader's rhetoric during the 2009 European crisis and the Covid-19 crisis, I see that populist rhetoric and creating an enemy as "others" helps Lega to increase its support from the voters.

4.2.3. Matteo Salvini's Actions About Refugees

Italian soil is one of the most places of entry in the EU. The issue of immigration was one of the most debated topics since the start of the migrant crisis in Italy.

Lega used anti-immigration rhetoric to get votes. Lega leader Matteo Salvini used one of the basic features of populist parties, the rhetoric of "the people" and "the others". Although the party's name officially stays Lega Nord, he dropped the name "Nord" from the party's brand name and embraced a more nationalist view as mentioned in previous chapter. But he mostly opposes the naturalization period of immigrants and accepts Italian as a heritage issue. After embracing nationalism, the immigration crisis emerged, and the party put the issue of immigration at the center of its campaigns in order to gain the votes of anti-immigrationists.

As expected, in 2018 ESS survey, Lega voters perceive immigrants as a negative thing. The general attitude about immigration is estimating Lega supporters' general opinion on how good or bad immigration is for the country. The most outstanding results about immigration among Lega supporters are, they think immigration makes the country a worse place to live.

U 1	Allow many/few immigrants of same race/ethnic group as majority	Allow different race/ethnic group from majority	Allow from poorer countries outside Europe	Immigrants bad or good for country's economy	Cultural life undermined or enriched by immigrants	Make country worse or better place to live
Results (Average)	2,59 allow some-a few	2,95 allow a few	2,94 allow a few	3,45 bad	3,16 bad	2,88 worse
	1 Allow many to come and live here	1 Allow many to come and live here	1 Allow many to come and live here	0 Bad for the economy	0 Cultural life undermined	0 Worse place to live
Values Category	2 Allow some	2 Allow some 2 Allow some		10 Good for the economy	10 Cultural life enriched	10 Better place to live
	3 Allow a few	3 Allow a few	3 Allow a few		-	
	4 Allow none	4 Allow none	4 Allow none			

Table 3. Immigration views of the Lega voters

Source: Acar Tiryaki (2022); author's calculation (European Social Survey, Dataset: ESS9-2018)

4.2.4. Conclusion: Refugee Crisis Influence on 2018 Elections

Massetti (2015, 486–87 as cited in Dennison& Geddes 2022, 443) argued that immigration "had turned the electoral advantage of the radical right vis-à-vis other parties (especially those on the center-right) into an office advantage of the center-right coalition".

The increased politicization of "irregular" arrivals into Italy after 2015 changed migration from a relatively "quiet" policy issue to one of "loud" politics meaning that it was highly salient to the public. This salience significantly advantaged the Lega, which could now campaign successfully nationally and dominate the nominal "center-right" coalition (Dennison& Geddes 2022). When Lega was in government from June 2018 to September 2019, policies focused solely on prevention and removal were imposed for migrants and asylum seekers and ended what remained of prior policy drift (Dennison& Geddes 2022).

M5S was the most voted party, got more than 30% of the votes as single party. M5S had "ambiguous" attitudes to migration and blaming the "migration crisis" on poor state management, but by 2018 in government this transformed into a more explicitly nativist position (Dennison& Geddes 2022, 444).

The second most voted party was center-left Democratic Party (Partito Democratico, PD), although it lost 7% of the votes according to 2013 elections. PD was supporting the integration of immigrants although after 2015 migration crisis it embraced stricter immigration policy. Voter turnout in 2018 elections was the lowest percentage since 1948 (Internazionale 2018 as cited in Belardo 2019), according to an Ipsos survey, more than a fifth of the voters of center -right coalition decided to abstain (Belardo 2019, 40).

A substantial novelty is the ability that the Lega to erode the Pd electorate. The issues of immigration control is evidently issues that arouse the attention and concerns of the left electorate, which in partly attracted by those who - like the Salvini's Lega- placed these issues at the center of the political agenda (Belardo 2019, 43).

The most benefitted party from the 2015 migration crisis is Lega. Lega increased its votes by more than 13% from 2013 national elections to 2018 elections. Lega was in center-right coalition with Forza Italia, Brothers of Italy (Fratelli d'Italia, FdI), Us with Italy (Noi con l'Italia, NcI)-Union of the Centre (Unione di Centro, UdC). Lega got 17% and Forza Italia 14% of the votes. Lega formed

a government coalition with M5S without its center-right allies, dominated the government, and attempted to bring down the M5S-Lega coalition. The government could only live for one year.

4.3. Covid-19 Crisis

Covid-19 started in China in the last months of 2019 and became a pandemic in a short time. Italy was the first heavily affected country in Europe. It is Italy's biggest crisis since World War II (Pisano et al. 2020). In March 2020, Italy declared a lockdown. The Italian government was criticized for being too late to take the necessary precautions.

Matteo Salvini wrote a Facebook message on January 31, 2020, in which he claimed that the virus had been invented in Chinese laboratories (Engel 2020 as cited in Wondreys & Mudde 2022). Lega claimed the inferiority of the Chinese and the superiority of Italians. The League governor of Veneto, Luca Zaia, claimed the superiority of the Italians over the Chinese in terms of personal hygiene and cleanliness (tgcom24.it 2020 as cited in Wondreys & Mudde 2022).

In line with its nativism, the League initially saw the "foreign" virus as a significant danger—some local leaders referred to it as the "Chinese virus" (il Messaggero, February 21, 2020 as cited in Wondreys & Mudde 2022), however but with time party opinions on COVID-19 started to fluctuate a lot, including across various regions. The most affected regions in Italy were governed by the League (Lecca 2020 as cited in Wondreys & Mudde 2022). The party went from Salvini's alarmist appeals to close the borders and ban the Chinese New Year -after the first two cases in the country, which were two Chinese tourists in Rome- to claims that the virus was not that bad by the Lega governor of the hardest-hit province, Lombardy (Fanpage.it 2020 as cited in Wondreys & Mudde 2022).

Salvini accused the EU of being nothing more than a "lair of serpents and jackals" (Betz 2020c as cited in Wondreys & Mudde 2022) and the EU has abandoned Italy in the face of the covid-19 pandemic.

On 21 February 2020, Salvini criticized the government's decision of voluntarily quarantining for people returning from China on his Facebook account. He said the health of "our people" comes first. He said he was going to get vaccinated but also wanted the freedom of all and did not want his 18-year-old son "being chased by a syringe". In his statement on 15Th July 2021, he said he did not want to hear about closures, curfews, red and orange zones and he lashed out to Green Pass

"The hypothesis of a green pass for the vaccinated is "crazy", which "would create a total mess" (Forgnone 2021).

Lega wanted to take advantage of the situation and wanted to gain voters who are opposing anything mandatory when it comes to vaccinations. (Lettig 2021).

Lega lost three percent (from 30 to 27 percent) poll average between March and June 2020 (Wondreys & Mudde 2022, 101). On the other hand, a smaller right-wing party in opposition Brothers of Italy (FdI) increased its votes by 2 percent. Despite Salvini's radical opposition, the FdI was known as moderate, but FdI leader speaks of a "hypocrisy circuit" which discriminates against Italians, by allegedly not enforcing the lockdown rules among immigrants (Wondreys & Mudde 2022).

I believe the populistic rhetoric helps FdI to gain voters and Lega loses votes because of Salvini being more moderate. Again, the more a radical-right party emphasizes "us" and "them" more and uses more populistic harsh statements, the more votes they get. After the European migrant crisis 2015, the Lega's votes increased during it had populistic discourses about immigrants and after the European debt crisis Lega's votes decreased when it did not have populistic discourses about economic crisis.

Moreover, since there was not a national election after the covid-19 crisis, I will examine the results of the 2020 Italian constitutional referendum which was postponed to September 2020 from March 2020 because of lockdown.

The referendum was about reducing the number of MPs in the parliament by a third. This means to get elected parties must win more votes which was criticized by minor parties. On the other hand, reducing the number of MPs will reduce the cost of politics. The referendum was proposed by Democratic Party (PD)-Five Star Movement (M5S) coalition government and proposed by populist MS5 before the 2018 general elections. Lega supported the reducing of the number of MPs. The referendum was approved by a majority vote.

On the same day local elections were held. Before the elections, polls showed that Lega could win the Tuscany region, one of the strongholds of the left. However, the candidate of the left was elected with over 48 percent of the votes. The results of the referendum and local elections were evaluated such as "Elections gave the government a breathe", "PD stopped Salvini (League)", "Elections strengthened the government" (Pinar 2020).

As we see, moderate rhetoric and actions during the Covid-19 crisis gave mixed results to Lega. The referendum was approved as Lega supported but Lega lost votes in regional elections and in election polls.

4.4. Analysis of Impact of Three Crises to Lega

After the 2009 European debt crisis, the national elections were held in 2013 in Italy. Italy was one of the most affected countries from the crisis. Lega was not able to use the crisis theme in its favor recording one of its lowest electoral results. Its electoral program did not mention the crisis and it can be observed that voters cast the ballot for parties which are against the austerity measures.

Lega is the most benefitted party from the 2015 migration crisis. Lega increased its votes by more than 13% from 2013 national elections to 2018 national elections. Furthermore, it can be observed that Lega is able to erode the Pd electorate. The issues of immigration control are on the attention and concern of the left electorate, which in partly attracted by Lega which placed the immigration issues at the center of the political agenda. After the elections, despite being a short-lived government, Lega formed a government coalition with M5S without its center-right allies, dominated the government, and Salvini attempted to bring down the M5S-Lega coalition.

Lega's moderate rhetoric and actions during the Covid-19 crisis gave mixed results to Lega. Lega lost votes in regional elections and in election polls but the 2020 Italian constitutional referendum was approved as Lega supported.

CONCLUSION

The Lega Nord was established by Umberto Bossi as a federalist and regionalist political party in Italy in 1991. Party used one of the basic features of populist parties, the rhetoric of "the people" and "others". "The people-Us" were Northern Italians who were superior to "lazy" Southerns, and "others" were Southern Italians and the political elite in Rome. Lega leader Matteo Salvini took over the party in 2013. He embraced a more nationalist view; he dropped the name "Nord" from the party's brand name although the party's name officially stays Lega Nord. "Us" became all Italians while "others" were mainly immigrants. The second "others" were Brussels-EU which is indifferent to Italy's problems and betrayed European soul. The party got enormous support during Salvini's leadership.

The findings of the paper show "Losers of Modernization" Theory and "Rational Choice" Theory can partly explain the popularity of Lega.

According to "Losers of Modernization" Theory, after the 2009 European debt crisis, Lega's votes would increase since so many Italians became victims of globalization because of the global economic crisis, however Lega's votes decreased in 2013 elections. On the other hand, in 2018 elections after 2015 migration crisis Lega's votes increased. According to some voters, refugees would be an economic burden on the state, job market competition would increase, and refugees would diminish the social welfare of voters, so these voters became losers of modernization. In 2018 elections, we saw that Lega got the protest votes of even center-left party supporters since Lega positioned itself as protectors of "the people" and the "losers of modernization".

Rational Choice Theory can partly explain the popularity of Lega. Lega encourages optimization by creating an opportunity for voters to express their views which are ignored by mainstream parties. According to Rational Choice Theory, we expect Lega voters vote for Lega according to their "rational choice" by calculating their own cost and benefits. However, voters are not "fully" rational, and can easily be affected by the society's reactions and the media. If the media had not covered news about Lega, or if there had been strong public protest against Lega, voters who had rationally chosen Lega might not have voted for Lega.

My research question was "How did the European debt crisis, 2015 migration crisis, and Covid-19 crisis influence the votes of Lega in 2013 and 2018 Italian national elections?". The paper shows that the rhetoric of the leader and the party program is so crucial as well as the governing parties. Lega benefits from these crises, if it places the crisis at the center of its political agenda, can create a common enemy and emphasize "us" and the "others" during crisis time. Moreover, Lega's leader and the other parties' stances against these crises are crucial.

It can be seen that after the 2009 European debt crisis, the votes of Lega decreased but after the 2015 migrant crisis the votes of Lega increased. There were also mixed results after the covid-19 crisis.

After the European debt crisis, in the next elections in 2013, Lega's electoral program was not mainly about the economic crisis and Lega recorded one of its lowest electoral results. During Monti government, Lega became the main parliamentary opposition since PdL supported the government. During crisis time, Lega's fiscal federalism idea did not seem possible. In 2012 it was claimed that Lega misused public funds, particularly by the figures close to the leader Umberto Bossi. Then Bossi resigned and Maroni was elected as new Federal Secretary. In 2013 elections Lega led by Maroni lost votes. If Lega's party program and leader's rhetoric had created an enemy as in the 2015 migration crisis, maybe Lega's votes would have been higher.

Italy is geographically on the edge of Europe and a "gate" to the European Union. Refugees from the Middle East and Africa following the path through the Mediterranean were common but after civil wars in Syria and ongoing conflicts in Africa the number of refugees increased numerously. Some Italians think this immigration would be a huge problem for the economy and labor market as well as culture. Matteo Salvini saw the opportunity, put anti-immigration as the main perspective of the party, emphasized "us" and the "others". "Us" were all Italians, "others" were mainly immigrants and the EU. Moreover, he embraced a nationalist view rather than its previous regionalism. Thus, he can appeal to more voters He campaigned successfully nationally and dominated the nominal "center-right" coalition. The most benefitted party from the 2015 migration crisis was Lega.

Lega increased its votes by more than 13% from 2013 national elections to 2018 elections. In the 2018 elections, it shows how important the leader is on the rise of Lega. Moreover, the issue of immigration control arouse the attention and concerns of the left electorate. A substantial novelty is the ability that the Lega to erode the PD electorate.

During covid-19 crisis, at first Lega had harsh rhetoric, claiming Italians' superiority to Chinese people and a conspiracy theory that virus was invented in China laboratories. Salvini also blamed EU for abandoning Italy in the face of the covid-19 pandemic. There has not been a national election after the covid-19 crisis, but 2020 referendum and the local elections were held. In this crisis, we see how important the mainstream governing parties' attitudes are and again the Lega's

electoral rhetoric. Salvini stayed in the middle, not harshly criticizing the governing parties but also not approving them about the measures taken about covid-19 crisis and vaccination. His statements about "our people's health first" become "freedom for all" about vaccination certificates. The governing populist party Five Star Movement (M5S) introduced the reducing the MPs of the parliament and this was supported by Lega. The referendum was approved as Lega supported, but Lega lost votes in regional elections and in election polls.

As we see, moderate rhetoric and actions during the Covid-19 crisis give mixed results to Lega. The referendum was approved as Lega supported but Lega did not get its desired votes in regional elections.

LIST OF REFERENCES

- ab.gov.tr, (2020). AB Yapısı ve İşleyişi (EU Structure and Functioning), Retrieved from https://www.ab.gov.tr/3.html#:~:text=EU's%20de%C4%9Fers%20AB%20Antla%C5%9 Fmas%C4%B1,rights%%20C4%B1na%20respect%C4%B1%20principles%20are%20% C3%20%C5%9F, 10 November 2021
- Akman, K. (2020). Seçim Sistemi Değişiklikleri ve Siyasi Parti İttifaklarının Siyasal Sisteme Etkileri: İtalya Örneği. Gaziantep University Journal of Social Sciences, 19(4), 1610-1625.
- Albertazzi, D. & McDonnell, D. (2015). Populists in power. London: Routledge.
- Amante, A. (2022). Changing tune, Italy's Salvini pledges to help refugees from Ukraine. Retrieved from https://www.euronews.com/2022/03/09/us-ukraine-crisis-italy-salvini, 10 April 2022.
- Ansa.it, (2016). Salvini disowns 'shoot judges' retweet. Retrieved from https://www.ansa.it/english/news/politics/2016/03/11/salvini-disowns-shoot-judgesretweet_0930f3ef-9e95-4b5a-b4d9-d4e25c3fc73a.html, 20 November 2021.
- Ansa.it, (2019) Cancel process for Turkey's EU accession Salvini Retrieved from https://www.ansa.it/english/news/2019/04/08/cancel-process-for-turkeys-eu-accessionsalvini_6eedbd43-c1b7-42c0-90ee-eefea0048720.html, 20 November 2021
- Arisoy, A. (2010). İtalya'da kuzey bölgeselciliği ve Kuzey Ligi Hareketi. Ege Stratejik Araştırmalar Dergisi (Northern regionalism and Northern League Movement in Italy, Aegean Journal of Strategic Studies), 1(1), 26-44.
- Balfour, R. (2017). The (resistable) rise of populism in Europe and its impact on European and international cooperation. *IEMed: Mediterranean yearbook*, (2017), 56-60.
- Barry C. (2019), Italy's Salvini stakes out post as Europe's populist leader, Retrieved from https://apnews.com/article/immigration-marine-le-pen-milan-elections-germany-3376a808df2641cf9da01476bcf7a1e9, 16 November 2021.
- Bartlett, J., Birdwell, J., & Littler, M. (2011). The rise of populism in Europe can be traced through online behaviour. *The new face of digital populism*.
- bbc.co.uk, (2018). Spain to accept disputed migrant ship Aquarius, Retrieved from https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-europe-44441386, 16 November 2021.

- Belardo, G. (2019). The Impact of the European Migration Crisis on the Rise of Far-Right Populism in Italy.
- Betz, H. G. (1993), "The New Politics of Resentment: Radical Right-Wing Populist Parties in Western Europe", Comparative Politics, Vol. 25, No. 4, July, s. 413-427.
- Betz, H. G. (1994). Radical right-wing populism in Western Europe. Springer.
- Betz, H. G. (2018). Matteo Salvini Italy's salvation? Retrieved from https://www.opendemocracy.net/en/can-europe-make-it/matteo-salvini-italy-s-salvation/, 13 May 2022.
- biografieonline.it, (2021). Matteo Salvini, Retrieved from https://biografieonline.it/biografiamatteo-salvini, 16 November 2021.
- Bobba, G., & McDonnell, D. (2016). Different types of right-wing populist discourse in government and opposition: The case of Italy. *South European Society and Politics*, 21(3), 281-299.
- Bobba, G., & McDonnell, D. (2016). Different types of right-wing populist discourse in government and opposition: The case of Italy. *South European Society and Politics*, 21(3), 281-299.
- Canovan, M. (1981). Populism, London: Junction Books.
- Congar K. (2020). İtalya'da Tunuslu aileye 'Siz uyuşturucu mu satıyorsunuz' diye soran Salvini'ye tepki. Retrieved from https://tr.euronews.com/2020/01/24/italya-da-tunuslu-aileye-siz-uyusturucu-mu-satiyorsunuz-diye-soran-salvini-ye-tepki, 15 November 2021.
- Congar, K. (2019). Salvini'den denizdeki göçmenlere Yardim eden Gere'e: Özel jetinle Hollywood'daki villana götür, Retrieved from , 15 November 2021.
- Custodero, A. (2018). Salvini shock: "Censimento sui rom, quelli italiani purtroppo ce li dobbiamo tenere". Scontro nel governo, Di Maio: "Incostituzionale", Retrieved from https://www.repubblica.it/politica/2018/06/18/news/salvini_rom_censimento-199319863/?ref=RHPPLF-BH-I0-C8-P2-S1.8-T1, 16 November 2021.
- Damoc, A. I. (2016). Fortress Europe breached: political and economic impact of the recent refugee crisis on European states. *Annals of the University of Oradea*, 25, 20-29.

- Dennison, J., & Geddes, A. (2022). The centre no longer holds: the Lega, Matteo Salvini and the remaking of Italian immigration politics. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 48(2), 441-460.
- Di Quirico, R. (2010). Italy and the global economic crisis. Bulletin of Italian Politics, 2(2), 3-19.
- Dix, R. H. (1985). Populism: Authoritarian and democratic. Latin American Research Review, 29-52.
- Drabiuk, R. (2019). A Study On The Development Of Populist Right Wing Parties In The Netherlands. (Master's Thesis, Linnaeus University)
- euronews.com, (2019). Sea Watch captain Carola Rackete released, but controversy rages on, Retrieved from https://www.euronews.com/2019/07/03/sea-watch-captain-carola-racketereleased-but-controversy-rages-on, 16 November 2021.

European Social Survey, Dataset: ESS9-2018, ed.3.1, January 7, 2022.

- Eurostat, (2022). Asylum applicants by type of applicant, citizenship, age and sex annual aggregated data (rounded), last update: 28/10/2021 12:00 Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/migr_asyappctza/default/bar?lang=en , 16 January 2022
- Forgnone, V. (2021). Vaccini, Salvini: "Non voglio mio figlio 18enne inseguito da una siringa". E si scaglia contro il Green pass. Il Pd attacca: è polemica. Retrieved from https://www.repubblica.it/politica/2021/07/18/news/covid_vaccini_salvini_figlio_insegui to_da_siringa_migranti_green_pass-310752685/, 25 February 2022.
- Gidron, N., & Bonikowski, B. (2013). Varieties of populism: Literature review and research agenda.
- Giglioli, I. (2022). Migration, Austerity, and Crisis at the Periphery of Europe. Retrieved from http://www.otheringandbelonging.org/migration-austerity-and-crisis-at-the-periphery-of-europe/, 11 January 2022.
- Godal, E. S. (2020). Is Europe moving in the right direction? A statistical analysis of right-wing populism (Master's thesis, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås).

Golder, M. (2016). Far right parties in Europe. Annual Review of Political Science, 19, 477-497.

- Guiso, L., Herrera, H., Morelli, M., & Sonno, T. (2017). Demand and supply of populism. London, UK: Centre for Economic Policy Research.
- Gunduz, R. (2019). Salvini: Avrupa İslamcı halifelik haline dönüşebilir, engellemek için elimden geleni yapacağım, Retrieved from https://tr.euronews.com/2019/05/03/salvini-avrupa-islamci-halifelik-haline-donusebilir-engellemek-icin-calisacagim-ap-secim, 15 November 2021.
- Hawkins, K. A. (2010). *Venezuela's Chavismo and populism in comparative perspective*. Cambridge University Press.
- Hawkins, K. A., & Rovira Kaltwasser, C. (2017). What the (ideational) study of populism can teach us, and what it can't. *Swiss Political Science Review*, 23(4), 526-542.
- Huysseune, M. (2002). Imagined geographies: Political and scientific discourses on Italy's North-South divide. *Secession, History and the Social Sciences, VUB Brussels University Press, Waversesteenweg*, 207-26.
- Inglehart, R. F., & Norris, P. (2016). Trump, Brexit, and the rise of populism: Economic have-nots and cultural backlash.
- italymagazine.com, (2008). Bossi anthem defamation case shelved, Retrieved from https://www.italymagazine.com/italy/crime/bossi-anthem-defamation-case-shelved, 15 May 2022.
- Jones, G. (2019). Italy's top court upholds seizure of League funds over corruption. Retrieved from https://www.reuters.com/article/us-italy-politics-league-court/italys-top-court-upholdsseizure-of-league-funds-over-corruption-idUSKCN1UX0ZB, 20 November 2021.
- Kirchgaessner S. (2018). Matteo Salvini: from far-right fringe player to strongman leader, theguardian.com. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/world/2018/jun/15/matteo-salvini-from-far-right-fringeplayer-to-strongman-leader, 15 November 2021.

- Koyuncu, H. (2019). İtalya İçişleri Bakanı: Ülkemde milyonlarca vatandaşım iş ararken mülteci sayısını kontrol etmeliyim, Retrieved from , 15 November 2021.
- Kvirkvelia N. (2014) Investigating the Features of three Italian populist parties (Lega Nord, Forza Italia, 5 Star Movement) in terms of Leadership and Party Claims) (Master's Thesis, Tartu University)
- Laclau, E. (1977) Politics and Ideology in Marxist Theory: Capitalism, Fascism, Populism. London: New Left Books.
- Laclau, E. (1980) Populist Rupture and Discourse. Screen Education 34: 87-93.
- Laclau, E. (2005). On populist reason. Verso.
- Lapresse.it, (2018). Salvini: Qatar balanced not like extremist Saudi Arabia. Retrieved from https://www.lapresse.it/politica/2018/10/30/salvini-qatar-equilibrato-non-come-arabia-saudita-estremista/, 21 November 2021.
- Lastampa, (2018). Il Capitano Salvini studia da premier: "Orgoglioso di essere populista" Retrieved from https://www.lastampa.it/politica/2018/03/06/news/il-capitano-salvinistudia-da-premier-orgoglioso-di-essere-populista-1.33988386, 15 November 2021.
- Lazar, M. (2018). Portrait of Matteo Salvini Italian Minister of the Interior. Retrieved from https://www.institutmontaigne.org/en/blog/portrait-matteo-salvini-italian-ministerinterior, 22 November 2022.
- Lee, J. (2020). The Recent Rise Of The Far-Right In Europe: Can It Be Attributed To The Migrant Crisis, The European Debt Crisis, Euroscepticism, Or Something Else Entirely? (Doctoral dissertation, Johns Hopkins University).
- Lettig, D. (2021). Salvini's Lega joins protests against COVID certificate. Retrieved from https://www.euractiv.com/section/politics/short_news/salvinis-lega-joins-protests-against-covid-certificate/, 1 March 2022.
- Lyrintzis, C. (1987). The power of populism: The Greek case. *European Journal of Political Research*, 15(6), 667-686.

- Macrotrends (2022). Italy Youth Unemployment Rate 1991-2022 Retrieved from https://www.macrotrends.net/countries/ITA/italy/youth-unemployment-rate, 10 January 2022.
- Manara, G.O (2019). *How Exogenous Factors Redirect Voter Preferences: The Case of Italy and Lega Nord* (Master's thesis, University Of Tartu).
- Montalbano W. (1991) Profile : Fighting the Center: A Rebel in Italy : Umberto Bossi is seeking nothing less than the radical restructuring of the country into a Swiss-style federal republic.
 Retrieved from https://www.latimes.com/archives/la-xpm-1991-04-02-wr-1879-story.html , 5 May 2022.
- March, L. (2007) "From Vanguard of the Proletariat to Vox Populi: Leftpopulism as a 'Shadow' of Contemporary Socialism", *SAIS Review of International Affairs*, 27(1), 63-77.
- Mattioli A. (2018). Il Capitano Salvini studia da premier: "Orgoglioso di essere populista" Lastampa. Retrieved from https://www.lastampa.it/politica/2018/03/06/news/il-capitanosalvini-studia-da-premier-orgoglioso-di-essere-populista-1.33988386 , 15 November 2021.
- Momigliano, A. (2018). For Many Italian Jews, Far-right Parties No Longer Getting a Pass for Being pro-Israel. Retrieved from https://www.haaretz.com/world-news/europe/.premiumitalian-jews-finally-take-stand-against-far-right-pro-israel-parties-1.6302183 , 21 November 2021.
- Morlino, L., & Piana, D. (2014). Economic crisis in a stalemated democracy: The Italian case. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 58(12), 1657-1682.

Mouffe, C. (2019). Sol Popülizm, çev. Aybars Yanık, İletişim Yayınları: İstanbul.

- Mouzelis, N. (1985) 'On the Concept of Populism: Populist and Clientelist Modes of Incorporation in Semiperipheral Politics', in Politics and Society, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 329-347.
- Mouzelis, N. (1989) 'Populism: A new Mode of Incorporation of the Masses into Political Processes?'), in Mouzelis, N., Lipowatz, Th. & Spourdalakis, M., Populism and Politics, Athens: Gnosi.

- Mudde, C. (2007). *Populist radical right parties in Europe* (p. 234). Cambridge: Cambridge university press.
- Mudde, C. (2013). Three decades of populist radical right parties in Western Europe: So what?. *European Journal of Political Research*, 52(1), 1-19.
- Mudde, C., & Kaltwasser, C. R. (2013). Exclusionary vs. inclusionary populism: Comparing contemporary Europe and Latin America. *Government and opposition*, 48(2), 147-174.
- Njie, B., & Asimiran, S. (2014). Case study as a choice in qualitative methodology. *Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 4(3), 35-40.
- Oner, S. (2022). 'Europe'of populist radical right and the case of Lega of Salvini: pioneer of a 'Parochial Europe'?. *European Politics and Society*, 23(1), 62-77.
- Passarelli, G., & Tuorto, D. (2014). Not with my vote: turnout and the economic crisis in Italy. Contemporary Italian Politics, 6(2), 147-158.
- Peoplepill.com, (2022). Italian Politician Umberto Bossi. Retrieved from https://peoplepill.com/people/umberto-bossi, 16 May 2022.
- Pinar, O. (2020). İtalya'da parlamenter sayısının üçte bir azaltılması referandumda kabul edildi. Retrieved from https://www.bbc.com/turkce/haberler-dunya-54250464, 2 March 2022.
- Pisano G.& Sadun R.& Zanini M. (2020). Lessons from Italy's Response to Coronavirus. Retrieved from https://hbr.org/2020/03/lessons-from-italys-response-to-coronavirus, 1 March 2022.
- Politi, J. (2015). Lunch with the FT: Beppe Grillo. Retrieved from https://www.ft.com/content/55d3242a-2bb2-11e5-8613-e7aedbb7bdb7, 18 April 2022.
- Quinones, E. M., & Tcherneva, P. (2020). The Effect of Post-Industrial Economic Transformations on the Electoral Popularity of the European Far Right. In *СТУДЕНЧЕСКИЕ СМОЛЬНЫЕ ЧТЕНИЯ* (pp. 39-61).

- rainews.it, (2012). Matteo Salvini eletto segretario della Lega, Retrieved from https://archive.ph/20131218233738/http://www.rainews.it/it/news.php?newsid=165862#s election-1279.0-1279.43, 16 November 2021.
- rainews.it, (2019). La Lega presenta al Senato una mozione di sfiducia a Conte. M5S attacca Salvini: "Giullare", Retrieved from https://www.rainews.it/dl/rainews/articoli/Salvini-Subito-in-Aula-poi-le-elezioni-Conte-Dovra-spiegare-le-ragioni-della-crisi-648408f5df6c-49f8-bf6d-a73532bd60ab.html 16 November 2021.
- Ruzza, C., & Balbo, L. (2013). Italian populism and the trajectories of two leaders: Silvio Berlusconi and Umberto Bossi. *Right-wing populism in Europe: Politics and discourse*, 163-176.
- Samar, K. (2019). İtalya'da aşırı sağcı lider Salvini: Nutella'da Türk değil İtalyan fındığını tercih ederim. Retrieved from https://tr.euronews.com/2019/12/06/italyada-asiri-sagci-matteosalvini-turk-findigini-hedef-aldi, 15 November 2021.
- Shaw, A. (2019). Italy's Salvini slams France for migrant crisis: 'I don't take lessons on humanity and generosity from Macron'. Retrieved from https://www.foxnews.com/world/italyssalvini-slams-france-for-migrant-crisis-i-dont-take-lessons-on-humanity-and-generosityfrom-macron, 21 November 2021.
- Scott, J. (2000). Rational choice theory. Understanding contemporary society: Theories of the present, 129, 671-85.
- Spourdalakis, *Populism and Politics* (Athens: Gnosi, 1989)
- Yigit Uyar M.H. (2021). Siyasal Söylemde 'Mülteci Krizi': Italya, Macaristan, Türkiye. (Doctoral dissertation, Istanbul University).
- Smith D. (2002) American Psychology Association Monitor Staff December 2002, Vol 33, No. 11 Print version: page 22 Retrieved from https://www.apa.org/monitor/dec02/nobel.html 29 March 2022
- Spektorowski, A. (2003). Ethnoregionalism: The intellectual new right and the Lega Nord. *The Global Review of Ethnopolitics*, 2(3-4), 55-70.

- Statista (2020) Unemployment rate in Italy from 2008 to 2020. Retrieved from https://www.statista.com/statistics/531010/unemployment-rate-italy/ 10 January 2022.
- Stille A. (2018). How Matteo Salvini pulled Italy to the far right. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/news/2018/aug/09/how-matteo-salvini-pulled-italy-to-the-far-right, 15 January 2022.
- Taggart, P. (1995). New populist parties in Western Europe. West European Politics, 18(1), 34-51.
- Tarchi, M. (1998), —The Lega Nordl, De Winter, L. (eds.), Regionalist Parties in Western Europe, London, Routledge.
- Terra.com, (2018). Italian nationalist Salvini celebrates Bolsonaro's victory. Retrieved from https://www.terra.com.br/noticias/mundo/salvini-comemora-resultado-de-bolsonaro-novos-ares,32f9fd50050a7718bfdf57513905106atova37hu.html , 22 November 2022.
- The Belief of Forza Italia (2004). Retrieved from https://wayback.archiveit.org/all/20081218164706/http://www.forzaitalia.it/images/grafica-2007/chisiamo/credolaico.pdf, 18 April 2022.
- theguardian.com, (2013). Italian elections: austerity challenged. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2013/feb/26/italian-elections-austerity-challenged-editorial, 16 January 2022.
- theguardian.com, (2018). Matteo Salvini: from far-right fringe player to strongman leader, Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/world/2018/jun/15/matteo-salvini-from-farright-fringe-player-to-strongman-leader, 15 November 2021.
- Tizian, G. &Vergine, S. (2019). La trattativa segreta per finanziare con soldi russi la Lega di

 Matteo
 Salvini.

 Retrieved
 from

 https://espresso.repubblica.it/inchieste/2019/02/20/news/esclusivo-lega-milioni-russia

 1.331835, 16 November 2021.
- Tmnews.it, (2013). Salvini: Lega ha "terreno comune" con Le Pen, il 23 'No Euro Day'. Retrieved from

https://web.archive.org/web/20131117090525/http://www.tmnews.it/web/sezioni/top10/s alvini-lega-ha-terreno-comune-con-le-pen-il-23-no-euro-day-20131114_085012.shtml , 20 November 2021.

- Tondo, L. (2019). Italian prosecutors investigate League over alleged Russian oil deal claims, Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/jul/11/matteo-salvinis-partyunder-investigation-for-alleged-russian-oil-deal, 15 November 2021.
- Trading Economics (2020). Italy Government Debt to GDP. Retrieved from https://tradingeconomics.com/italy/government-debt-to-gdp, 8 January 2022.
- UNHCR January 17, 2022. Operational Portal: Refugee Situations. Sea Arrivals in 2020. Retrieved from https://data2.unhcr.org/en/situations/mediterranean/location/5205, 10 February 2022
- Vampa D. (2018). What's Happening in Italy? Populism, Continuity and Change. Retrieved from https://www.psa.ac.uk/psa/news/what%E2%80%99s-happening-italy-populismcontinuity-and-change, 18 April 2022.
- Verney, S., & Bosco, A. (2013). Living parallel lives: Italy and Greece in an age of austerity. South European Society and Politics, 18(4), 397-426.
- Vercesi, M. (2021). Why is Italy more populist than any other country in western Europe? Retrieved from https://theloop.ecpr.eu/why-is-italy-more-populist-than-any-othercountry-in-western-europe/, 27 February 2022.
- Walt V. (2018). Why Italy's Matteo Salvini Is the Most Feared Man in Europe. *Time*.Retrieved from https://time.com/5394448/matteo-salvini/, 7 January 2022.

Wodak, R. (2015). The politics of fear: What right-wing populist discourses mean. Sage.

- Wondreys, J., & Mudde, C. (2022). Victims of the pandemic? European far-right parties and COVID-19. *Nationalities Papers*, *50*(1), 86-103.
- World Bank (2020). National accounts data, and OECD National Accounts data files. Retrieved fromhttps://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.KD.ZG?end=2020&locations =IT&start=2005&view=chart, 8 January 2022.

APPENDIX

A non-exclusive licence for reproduction and for granting public access to the graduation thesis¹

I Tuğçe İpek Acar Tiryaki

1. Give Tallinn University of Technology a permission (non-exclusive licence) to use free of charge my creation The Crises Effect On Lega Party In Italy supervised by Holger Mölder,

1.1. to reproduce with the purpose of keeping and publishing electronically, including for the purpose of supplementing the digital collection of TalTech library until the copyright expires;

1.2. to make available to the public through the web environment of Tallinn University of Technology, including through the digital collection of TalTech library until the copyright expires. 2. I am aware that the author will also retain the rights provided in Section

1. 3. I confirm that by granting the non-exclusive licence no infringement is committed to the third persons' intellectual property rights or to the rights arising from the personal data protection act and other legislation.

¹ The non-exclusive licence is not valid during the access restriction period with the exception of the right of the university to reproduce the graduation thesis only for the purposes of preservation.